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The Kruk Group

Consolidated statement of financial position

As at Dec 31 2012
PLN '000

Assets

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment
Other intangible assets
Goodwill
Deferred tax assets

Total non-current assets

Current assets
Inventories
Investments
Trade receivables
Income tax receivables
Other receivables
Prepayments and accrued income
Cash and cash equivalents
Total current assets

Total assets
Equity and liabilities

Equity
Share capital
Share premium
Exchange differences on translating foreign openati
Other capital reserves
Retained earnings
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Non-controlling interests
Total equity

Non-current liabilities

Non-current liabilities on borrowings and other tigistruments
Total non-current liabilities

Current liabilities
Current liabilities on borrowings and other delstinments
Trade and other payables
Current tax payable
Employee benefit obligations
Current provisions
Total current liabilities

Total liabilities

Total equity and liabilities

Note

13
14
15
17

18
16
19
19

20

21

23

23
26

24
25

31.12.2012 31.12.2011
17,209 14,326
7,646 6,651
1,024 1,024
1,603 1,837
27,482 23,838
879 537
880,012 721,928
12,019 12,804
767 -
5,160 3,354
2,382 1,800
42,729 36,205
943948 776,628
971,430 800,466
16,900 16,900
45107 45,107
(3,774) 330
45711 43,365
213532 132,493
317,476 238,195
156 188
317,632 238,383
409,179 339,497
409,179 339,497
187,204 137,503
38,508 66,947
- 660
18,643 17,212
264 264
244619 222,586
653,798 562,083
971,430 800,466




The Kruk Group

Consolidated income statement

For the year ended December 31st 2012

PLN '000

Revenue
Other income

Salaries and Employee benefits expense
Depreciation and amortisation expense

Third-party services
Other expenses

Operating profit

Finance income

Finance costs

Net finance expenses

Pre-tax profit

Income tax

Net profit for the period

Net profit attributable to:
Owners of the parent

Non-controlling interests
Net profit for the period

Earnings/(loss) per share
Basic (PLN)
Diluted (PLN)

Note

10

11
11

12

22
22

01.01.2012 - 01.01.2011 -
31.12.2012 31.12.2011
342,992 274,031
2,516 1,367
(87,813) (70,519)
(7,335) (5,427)
(46,263) (46,838)
(67,424) (56,619)
(208,835) (179,403)
136,673 95,995
1,232 2,934
(52,811) (30,383)
(51,579) (27,449)
85,094 68,546
(3,900) (2,154)
81,194 66,392
81,039 66,205
155 187
81,194 66,392
4.80 4.03
4.78 4.03

The notes on pages 8 to 64 are an integral paineste condensed interim consolidated financiaéstants 4



The Kruk Group

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income
For the year ended December 31st 2012

PLN '000
Note 01.01.2012 - 01.01.2011 -
31.12.201z2 31.12.2011
Net profit for the period 81,194 66,392
Other comprehensive income
Exchange differences on translating foreign openati (4,104) (55)
Other comprehensive net income for the period (4,104) (55)
Total comprehensive income for the period 77,090 66,337
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Owners of the parent 76,935 66,150
Non-controlling interests 155 187
Total comprehensive income for the period 77,090 66,337

The notes on pages 8 to 64 are an integral paineste condensed interim consolidated financiaéstants 5



The Kruk Group

Consolidated statement of changes in equity

For financial year ended December 31st 20. (PLN '000)

Equity as at Jan 1 2011

Comprehensive income for the period

Net profit for the period

Other comprehensive income

- Exchange differences on translating foreign afiens
Total comprehensive income for the period
Contributions from and distributions to owners
- Payment of dividend

- Issue of treasury shares

- Share-based payments

- Designation of capital reserve

Contributions from and distributions to owners
Total equity as at Dec 31 2011

Equity as at Jan 1 2012

Comprehensive income for the period

Net profit for the period

Other comprehensive income

- Exchange differences on translating foreign afiens

Total comprehensive income for the period

Contributions from and distributions to owners
- Payment of dividend

- Share-based payments

Contributions from and distributions to owners

Total equity as at Dec 31 2012

Exchange Equity
differences or attributable
translating Other to owners Non-

Share Share foreign capital Retained of the controlling Total
Note capital premium operations  reserves earnings parent interests equity
15,309 5,308 385 2,967 106,288 130,257 42 130,299
- - - - 66,205 66,205 187 66,392

- - (55) - - (55) - (55)
- - (55) - 66,205 66,150 187 66,337

- - - - (41) (42)
1,591 39,799 - (492) - 40,898 - 40,898
- - - 890 - 890 - 890

- - - 40,000 (40,000) - - -
1,591 39,799 - 40,398 (40,000) 41,788 (41) 41,747
16,900 45,107 330 43,365 132,493 238,195 188 238,383
16,900 45,107 330 43,365 132,493 238,195 188 238,383
- - - - 81,039 81,039 155 81,194

- . (4,104) - - (4,104) - (4,104)
- - (4,104) - 81,039 76,935 155 77,090

- - - - - - (187) (187)
21 - - - 2,346 - 2,346 - 2,346
- - - 2,346 - 2,346 (187) 2,159
16,900 45,107 (3,774) 45,711 213,532 317,476 156 317,632




The Kruk Group

Consolidated statement of cash flows
For the year ended December 31st 2012

PLN 000 Note 01.01.2012 - 01.01.2011 -
31.12.201z 31.12.2011
Cash flows from operating activities
Net profit for the period 81,194 66,392
Adjustments
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 13 4,723 3,640
Amortisation of intangible assets 14 2,612 1,787
Net finance costs 43,126 25,386
(Gain)/ loss on sale of property, plant andigaent (259) (129)
Equity-settled share-based payment transactions 2,346 890
Income tax 3,900 2,128
Change in other investments (3,293) -
Change in debt portfolios purchased 16 (154,791) (455,458)
Change in inventories (342) (79)
Change in receivables (1,021) (4,621)
Change in prepayments and accrued income (582) (74)
Change in current trade and other payables (28,439) 17,768
Change in employee benefit obligations 1,431 3,167
Change in provisions - 90
Income tax paid (5,103) (1,717)
Net cash flows from operating activities (54,498) (340,830)
Cash flows from investing activities
Interest received 1,232 2,705
Loans advanced - (6,350)
Sale of intangible assets and property, plant guipenent 496 271
Purchase of intangible assets and property, plaheguipment (7,532) (8,182)
Repayment of loans advanced - 4,603
Net cash flows from investing activities (5,804) (6,954)
Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds from share issue - 40,898
Proceeds from notes issue 190,000 291,000
Increase in borrowings 369,600 192,579
Repayment of borrowings (320,232) (100,691)
Payments under finance lease agreements (2,169) (3,199)
Non-controlling interests (187) 41)
Redemption of notes (120,660) (30,000)
Interest paid (49,536) (27,332)
Net cash flows from financing activities 66,816 363,213
Total net cash flows 6,524 15,429
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the gherio 36,205 20,776
Cash at end of period 20 42,729 36,205

Due to the limited amount of information on revetfieen debt collection and spending on debt porfplirchases, this consolidated statement of
cash flows should be read in conjunction with tiferimation contained in Note 16 to these consatiddinancial statements.



The Kruk Group

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
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The Kruk Group

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

1. Parent

Name:
KRUK Spotka Akcyjna (“KRUK S.A.” or “Parent”)

Registered office:
ul. Legnicka 56
54-204 Wroctaw, Poland

Registration in the National Court Register

District Court for Wroctaw-Fabryczna in Wroctawh6Commercial Division of the National Court Registe
ul. Grabiszyiska 269, 53-235 Wroctaw, Poland

Date of entry: September 7th 2005

Entry number: KRS 0000240829

Description of business of the Parent and subsiesar
The business of the Parent and its subsidiariesistsnprimarily in the restructuring and recovefydebts
purchased by the Group companies and debts hdlddncial institutions and other clients.

Until April 30th 2012, the Parent also providedriseato private individuals. As from May 1st 2012isth
activity was transferred to a subsidiary, NOVUM &iige Sp. z o.0.

Rejestr Dhinikow ERIF Biuro Informacji Gospodarczej S.A. ("RERIF BIG S.A."), a subsidiary of Kruk
S.A., is a credit information agency providing dtedformation on consumers and businesses whishoied
and administered by RD ERIF BIG S.A.

These consolidated financial statements for thertew period ended December 31st 2012 include the
financial statements of the Parent and its subsgdigjointly the "Group").

The Parent is KRUK S.A. A list of the subsidiariepresented in Note 30.

2. Preparation of consolidated financial statements
a) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements of the KRG#up have been prepared in accordance with the
International Financial Reporting Standards, aoesetl by the European Union (the "EU-IFRS").

These consolidated financial statements were apdrdwy the Management Board of the Parent (the
“Management Board”) on March 13th 2013.

b) Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have besgraped for the reporting period of January 1séedinber
31st 2012. Comparative data is presented as amnfeze31st 2011 and for the period January 1st eDbéer
31st 2011.

These consolidated financial statements have bemyaped on the historical cost basis, except veipect to
the following significant items of the statemenffiofncial position:

» financial instruments valued at fair value throyngbfit or loss

The methods of measuring fair value are presentéibie 4.



The Kruk Group

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

¢) Functional currency and presentation currency

The data contained in these consolidated finagtaéments is presented in the Polish zioty (Pkd)nded to
the nearest thousand. The Polish zioty is the fomak currency of the Parent.

d) Accounting estimates and judgements

In order to prepare financial statements in acawdavith the EU-IFRS, the Management Board is regliio
rely on judgements, estimates and assumptions wdffelct the application of accounting policies ahd
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, incomeargls, whose actual values may differ from thesienates.

The estimates and the underlying assumptions &ewed on an ongoing basis. Any changes in accognti
estimates are introduced prospectively, startingnfthe reporting period in which the estimate iargied.

For information on judgements concerning the apfihen of accounting policies, which most signifitgn
affect the values presented in the financial statés) see the following notes:

* Note 3C)(i) Investments

As of July 1st 2012, a compartment (or a distiraat pf business for which separate accounting istaiaed)

was established within subsidiary Secapital S,avwbse purpose is to purchase debt portfolios mhéamated

in the Romanian Leu (RON). The decision was madedban the prevailing economic conditions, in otder
reflect the actual economic transactions, developsand factors in the most precise manner possible
significant portion of debt portfolios purchased the Group, and hence cash inflows and revenues, is
denominated in RON.

This approach is consistent with IAS 21 which reggiieach individual entity preparing separate fran
statements to determine its functional currencyndée currency in which the majority of its cakbws are
generated, and measure its results, assets amdifihposition in that currency.

For information on any judgements and estimateslware related to material risk and may requiraigant
corrections in the financial statements for théofeing year, see the following notes:

« Note 16 Current investments
« Note 27 Financial instruments
3. Significant accounting policies

The accounting policies presented below have bpphed with respect to all the reporting periodegemted
in the consolidated financial statements.

a) Basis of consolidation
(i) Business combinations

Business combinations, including combination ofselibend investment funds, are accounted for wigh th
acquisition method as at the acquisition date, widcthe date on which the Group assumes contre the
acquired entity.

Control is defined as the ability to govern theafinial and operating policies of an enterprisesstnaobtain
benefits from its activities. In its assessmenivbEther control is exercised, the Group takes émmount the
voting rights which may be exercised as at thessssent date. The date of business combinatioriddi on
which the acquirer takes control of the acquirdee @late of business combination is determined laedatct
of assuming control of the acquiree by the acqureracknowledged by way of a judgement.

The Group recognises goodwill as fair value of pagment made, including the recognised value of non
controlling interest in the acquiree, less net gabfi the identifiable assets acquired and liab#itassumed as
at the date of acquisition at fair value.

10



The Kruk Group

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

The payment made includes fair value of the transfieassets, liabilities incurred by the Group talsathe
previous owners of the acquired entity, and shassed by the Group. The payment made also incliades
value of a partial conditional payment, as welfaisvalue of the acquirer's replacement shareéasgment
awards, as replacement is obligatory at businessic@tions. If, on account of a business combimatio
previous liabilities between the Group and the @eguexpire, the value of payment is decreasedhéyawer
of the following amounts: the contractual price floe expiration of liability or the value of theteaf-market
component, and recognised as other costs.

Conditional liabilities of the acquiree are accathfor in a business combination only where suahillty is
currently payable, results from past events, anthit value may be estimated in a reliable manner.

The Group valuates all non-controlling interestpioportion to the interest in identifiable net assaf the
acquiree.

Any transaction costs incurred in relation to aibess combination, such as legal fees, costs ofldigence
and other professional services, are recognisedsts for the period in which they are incurred.

(i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the Parémtluding investment funds. Financial statements o
subsidiaries are consolidated from the date ofrasgucontrol over subsidiaries to the date on whiabh
control ceases to exist. The accounting policigdiegh by Subsidiaries are uniform with the policasplied
by the Group.

(iii) Consolidation adjustments

Balances of settlements between the Group's entitransactions concluded within the Group and any
resulting unrealised gains or losses, as welleanges and costs of the Group are eliminated atoickation.
Unrealised losses are eliminated from the cons@litidinancial statements according to the same asle
unrealised gains, however, only if no impairmeuig¢ations exist.

b) Foreign currencies
(i) Foreign currency transactions

Transactions denominated in foreign currenciestahea transaction date are recognised in the fonati
currencies of the Group's entities, at bid or astles quoted as at the transaction date by the whoke
services a given entity uses.

Cash items of assets and liabilities denominated floreign currency are translated as at the enthef
reporting period at the relevant mid exchange wueted by the central bank for that date. Exchange
differences on valuation of assets and financiabilities as at the end of the reporting period tre
differences between the value at amortised cotdrfunctional currency as at the beginning ofrqaorting
period, adjusted for the interest accrued and patsnmade during the reporting period, and the value
amortised cost in the foreign currency, translakthe relevant mid exchange rate quoted by thealdrmank

for the end of the reporting period.

Non-monetary items of foreign currency assets datilities valued at historical cost are translatgédhe
relevant mid exchange rate quoted by the centrat B the transaction date.

Non-monetary items of foreign currency assets afilities valued at fair value are translatedhat televant
mid exchange rate quoted by the central bank fdtte of fair value measurement.

Currency-translation differences are recognisegrifit or loss for the given period. Non-monetatgnis

measured at historical cost in a foreign curreneytanslated at the relevant exchange rate afate of the
transaction

11



The Kruk Group

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(i) Translation of foreign operations

Assets and liabilities of foreign entities, inclngigoodwill and consolidation adjustments to thevJalue as
at the acquisition date, are translated at the emhange rate quoted by the National Bank of Pokdritie
end of the reporting period.

Any currency-translation differences are recognagdther comprehensive income. In the event pbdi of
a foreign entity, in whole or in part, relevant amis recognised in equity are charged to profibss for the
period.

Any exchange differences on monetary items in thenfof receivables from or liabilities towards aeign
entity which are not planned or probable to bdexin foreseeable future, are a part of net imaest in the
entity operating abroad, and recognised in otheorire total and presented in the equity as exchange
differences on translation.

¢) Financial instruments
(i) Financial instruments other than derivative ingruments

Loans, receivables and bank deposits are recoguaisede date of origination. All other financialsats
(including assets measured at fair value througfitpr loss) are recognised at the transactior,dat which
the Group becomes a party to a mutual liabilitytggamg to a given financial instrument.

The Group ceases to disclose a financial asset tgoaxpiry of the Group's contractual rights telcflows
from that asset or upon the transfer of those sighta transaction transferring substantially aditenial risks
and benefits relating to the ownership of the adsath interest in the transferred financial asddth is
created or remains to be owned by the Group idadied as a separate asset or liability.

Financial assets and liabilities are set off aga@ash other and disclosed in net amount in therstent of
financial position exclusively if the Group holddemally valid title to set off specified financiaksets and
liabilities or if it intends to settle a given tisaction for the net value of the financial asseid kabilities
being set off, or if it intends to simultaneousbalise set-off financial assets and settle sefiofncial
liabilities.

The Group holds the following financial instrumewther than financial derivatives: financial assatdair
value through profit or loss, financial assets Helthaturity, loans, receivables and financialilités.

Financial assets at fair value through profit osto

Financial assets are classified as an investmeasuned at fair value through profit or loss if tlag held for
sale or were designated as measured at fair vatoagh profit or loss at their initial recognitioRinancial
assets are designated as measured at fair valoggthiprofit or loss if the Group actively manageshs
investments and adopts decisions concerning thaichase or sale based on their fair value. Atahiti
recognition, transaction cost relating to an inwesit is recognised as profit or loss of the pedbthe time it
is incurred. All profits or losses relating to sunkiestments are recognised as profit or loss@ptriod.

Purchased debt portfolios

Purchase debt portfolios comprise mass overdueuocogrsdebt (such as debt under consumer loans, dunpai
utility bills, etc.) purchased by the Group und&ima assignment agreements. Prices paid by the pGiau
such debt portfolios are significantly lower thare thnominal value of the debt. The Group recognises
purchased debt portfolios as financial assets datég as measured at fair value through profitoss,|
because the Group manages the portfolios and thepGrresults of operations are assessed baséeéiofeir
value.

12



The Kruk Group

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Purchased debt portfolios are initially recognisg@cquisition price, which is equal to their faaue. Costs
and expenses relating to debt purchase transaetierrecognised in profit or loss of the period.

The Group measures purchased debt portfolios st fear times in a given annual reporting perioat, later
than as at the end of each calendar quarter. Tie wh a purchased debt portfolio is determinedatathe
measurement date, on the basis of a reliably estdhfair value calculated using an estimation modkiing

on discounted cash flows. A debt portfolio containdarge number of debt items. Each purchased debt
portfolio is divided into sub-portfolios with sinait parameters (type, nominal value, delinquencioggrand
separate cash flows are estimated for each sufziomrt

Discount rates applied to expected cash flows cetlee credit risk relating to a given portfoliot Aitial
recognition, the discount rate is the internal ratereturn reflecting purchase price and estimatgbw
determined as at the portfolio purchase date. Asaah measurement date, the Group verifies thetediop
discount rates to ensure that they reflect the therent risk-free rate and risk premium relatiogctedit risk
of a given portfolio.

Estimated cash flows from debt portfolios are ddddnto the principal amount and interest deterohinging
the discount rate. Recovered principal is recogh&e reduction of carrying amount of the debt ptids,
while the interest received is recognised as rexezauned in a given period. Moreover, changesiin/éue
resulting from changes in estimated future castvdléor a given debt portfolio and changes in thepaed
discount rate are disclosed as revenue earnedgimea period. These amounts are disclosed as apgrat
income, because the collection of purchased datfiofios is conducted with resources whose usesislased
under operating expenses.

Revaluation of purchased debt portfolios is defimsda change in their fair value caused by intenatst
fluctuations and/or change of estimates concerhitige cash flows. Any differences between the actnd
forecast payments are recognised in "interest ilecadjusted by actual payments".

The Group purchased debt portfolios are presergamigent assets due to the fact that they arecimguhted
within the normal operating cycle of the Group amdude almost exclusively as overdue receivables.

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are financial assets witbrohitied or determinable payments, but not listechion
active market. Such assets are initially recogniaedair value plus directly attributable transanticost.
Subsequently, loans and receivables are measudatised cost with the use of the effective iegerate
method, less impairment losses, if any.

The Group also discloses cash and cash equivateieell as trade receivables under loans, tramEvables.

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at handamtdat banks on call deposit accounts with Initia
maturities of up to three months. Balance of caghaash equivalents disclosed in the consolidatdreent

of cash flows comprises the above-specified cashcash equivalents, less unpaid overdraft faglitighich
form an integral component of the Group's cash gamant system.

Financial liabilities other than derivative instrients

Financial liabilities are recognised as at the dditeansaction under which the Group becomes gy paran
agreement obliging it to the delivery of a finahdéestrument.

The Group recognises a financial liability when flilability has been repaid, written off or is tirharred.

Financial assets and liabilities are set off aga@ash other and disclosed at net amounts in #iersent of
financial position only if the Group holds a legallalid title to set off specified financial assets
and liabilities or if it intends to settle a giveansaction for the net value of the financiakeéssnd liabilities
being set off, or if it intends to simultaneousbalise set-off financial assets and settle sefiofncial
liabilities.

13



The Kruk Group

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

The Group classifies financial liabilities othemathderivative instruments as other financial liib$. Such
liabilities are initially recognised at fair valydus directly attributable transaction cost. Follogy initial
recognition, such liabilities are measured at aisedtcost with the use of the effective interest.ra

The Group holds the following financial liabilitieorrowings, liabilities under debt securitiesddrade and
other payables.

(i) Equity
Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are recognised under equity. Gbststly attributable to the issue of ordinary #isaand
stock options, adjusted by the effect of taxesycedequity.

d) Property, plant and equipment
(i) Recognition and measurement
Items of property, plant and equipment are recagh# cost, less depreciation charges and impairosses.

Acquisition cost comprises the price for which gegi asset was purchased and costs directly refatdde
purchase and adaptation of the asset for use dimgjuhe cost of transport, loading, unloading atafage, as
well as direct remuneration (in the event of amitef property, plant and equipment produced inténa
Rebates, discounts and other similar concessiahsedarns reduce the asset acquisition cost. Ptiothucost

of property, plant and equipment or tangible assetier construction comprises all the expensesriediby a
company to construct, install, adapt or improvehsasset until the day on which the asset was plated
service (or, where the asset has not been placeérince, until the reporting date). Productiontcalso
comprises preliminary estimation of the cost ofndistling and removing items of property, plant and
equipment, as well as of restoring them to theitiaincondition, if such estimation is required. rBluased
software, necessary for the proper operation aetedlequipment, is capitalised as a part of thispagent.

Borrowing costs related to the acquisition or pwthn of certain assets increase their acquisiton
production cost.

If a specific item of property, plant and equipmeansists of separate and material componentsdifigrent
economic useful lives, such components are tresgesdparate assets.

Gain or loss on disposal of an item of propertgnpland equipment is estimated as a differencedsgtvhe
disposal proceeds, and is recognised in curremgsrprofit or loss under other income and expsn#ethe
disposal is related to previously re-measured sss@t appropriate amount from the revaluation veses
transferred to retained earnings.

(i) Subsequent expenditure

The Group companies capitalise future expenditurereplacement of an item of property, plant and
equipment, if such expenditure may be reliablynested and if the Group is likely to derive econobmenefits
from such replacement. Present value of the remaeets of property, plant and equipment is deretsegh
Expenditure related to the maintenance of item@roperty, plant and equipment is recognised asentirr
period's profit or loss at the time it is incurred.

14



The Kruk Group

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
(iii) Depreciation

The value of depreciation charges is determineddas acquisition or production cost of a certaises, less
its residual value.

Depreciation cost is recognised in current peripdiit or loss, using the straight-line methodhwiespect of
the useful economic lives of the certain item afgarty, plant and equipment. This method refldetsmanner
of achieving future economic benefits related ® ulke of a certain asset in the best possible Assets used
under lease agreements or other similar agreeraemtdepreciated over the shorter of their estimasadul
life or the lease term, unless the Group is ceitad it obtains ownership before the end of tlasde Land is
not depreciated.

The Group has adopted the following length of uskdes for particular categories of property, glaand
equipment:

Buildings (investments in thi-party facilities 6-15 vyear:
Plant and equipme 3-10 vyear:
Vehicles 5 year:

The reliability of applied useful economic livespeciation methods and residual values of propeiant
and equipment is reviewed at the end of each reggperiod and adjusted in justified cases.

e) Intangible assets
(i) Goodwill

Goodwill arises on acquisition of subsidiaries. @wiil valuation methods at the time of its initi@cognition
are described in Note 3(a)(i).

Measurement after the initial recognition

Following the initial recognition, goodwill is regnoised at acquisition cost, less cumulative impamtiosses.
Goodwill is not amortised. As at the end of eagioréng period, goodwill is tested for impairment.

(i) Other intangible assets

Other acquired intangible assets with finite useftbnomic lives are recognised based on their sitiqui
cost, less amortisation charges and impairmengé$oss

(iii) Subsequent expenditure

Subsequent expenditure on existing intangible agsetapitalised only when it increases future eoan
benefits to be generated by the asset. Other expemdncluding internally generated trademarksodyvill
and brand is recognised in the current period't@oloss at the moment in which it is incurred.

(iv) Amortisation

The value of amortisation charges is determineedbas acquisition or production cost of a certa@ises, less
residual value.

Amortisation cost is recognised in the currentges profit or loss on the straight-line basis witspect of
the estimated useful life of a certain intangibssed, other than goodwill, from the moment it ig puo

service. This method reflects the manner of achgefuture economic benefits related to the use céréain
asset in the best possible way.

The Group has adopted the following length of udefes for particular categories of intangible etss
Software 5 years
Research and development work 2-5 years
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The reliability of applied useful economic livesnartisation methods and residual values of intdegissets
is reviewed at the end of each reporting periodadjdsted in justified cases.

f) Property, plant and equipment used under leasegaeements

Lease agreements under which the Group assumetastiddty all the risks and benefits resulting frahe
ownership of the property, plant and equipmentdassified as finance lease agreements. Assetsragqu
under finance lease agreements are initially reisegnat the lower of their fair value or presenueaof the
minimum lease payments, less any depreciation ebaagd impairment losses.

Lease agreements which are not finance lease agnte@re treated as operating lease and not resgabim
the statement of financial position.

g) Inventories

Inventories are measured at acquisition cost rgherithan net realisable price. The value of inmees is
determined using the FIFO (“first in, first out”)etihod. The acquisition cost comprises the purcipaise
increased by costs directly related to the purchase

Net realisable price is the selling price estintatale in the course of business, less estimatedaostmplete
and estimated cost necessary to close the sale.

h) Impairment losses on assets
(i) Financial assets other than derivative instrumats

At the end of each reporting period, financial &ssgher than measured at fair value through peofit loss
are tested for impairment based on objective @ité particular financial asset is deemed to bpaired if,
after its initial recognition, any objective crit@rindicating the occurrence of an event causingainment,
which might have a reliably estimated negative iobman projected cash flows related to that assete lbeen
met.

Such obijective criteria of impairment of financésets include default or delay in payment by dalgbebt
restructuring approved by the Group for economitegal reasons resulting from the debtor's poaarfaial
condition, which the Group would not otherwise hapgroved of; circumstances indicating that thetaredr
issuer is likely to go bankrupt; disappearancencfetive market for a particular financial asset.

The Group tests for impairment each individual asbeeceivables or financial instruments held tatumity.

In impairment testing, the Group uses historicahdis to assess the probability of default, the payrdates
and the losses incurred, adjusted by the ManageifBeatd's estimates indicating whether the current
economic and credit conditions show any signs tfrusignificant differences between the actuaddsso be
incurred and the projections based on the revielistbrical trends.

Impairment of a financial asset measured at aneaftt®st is estimated as the difference betweeraitying
amount and the present value of projected cashsfidiscounted at the original effective intereserakny
losses are recognised in profit or loss for theégpeand reduce the current value of financial assbe Group
continues to charge interest on impaired assetnyfsubsequent circumstances indicate that tkeriarifor
impairment losses have ceased to be met, revdrgabairment losses is recognised in profit or lémsthe
current period.

(i) Non-financial assets

Carrying amount of non-financial assets other tinaentories and deferred tax assets is testedrfpairment

as at the end of each reporting period. If anyedst of impairment are met, the Group estimates the
recoverable amount of particular assets. The reablee amount of goodwill, intangible assets witfinite
lives and intangible assets which are not yebfituise is estimated at the same time each year.
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The recoverable amount of assets or cash-generatitg)is the higher of an asset's fair value tessds to sell
and its value in use. In assessing value in usgegied cash flows are discounted using a predasxwhich
reflects current market assessments of the timaevaf money and the risks specific to the asset. Fo
impairment testing, assets are grouped up to thalesh distinguishable units which generate cashels
independently from other assets or units of agseash-generating units").

The Group tests the recognised goodwill for impaimtby grouping cash-generating units so that the
organisational level, being no higher than theaia segment of operations, at which the impairrtesiing
is made reflects the lowest organisational levelldth the Group monitors goodwill for its own poges.

For impairment testing, goodwill acquired in busime&ombinations is allocated to the cash-generaiiritg
for which synergies are expected as a result afsinbss combination.

The Group's corporate (joint) assets do not geees@parate cash inflows. If any criteria of impa&innof
corporate assets are met, the recoverable amoasséssed for the cash-generating units to whadethassets
belong.

An impairment loss is recognised when the carrgngunt of an asset or cash-generating unit is hitytas
its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are résed in profit or loss for the period. Impairmefita cash-
generating unit is first recognised as impairmentgoodwill allocated to that unit (group of unitgind
subsequently as impairment of carrying amount léoassets of that unit (group of units) on pra-tsis.

Goodwill impairment losses are irreversible. Impant losses on other assets, recognised in prepeneds,

are reviewed for reduction or reversal at the einéagh reporting period. Impairment losses arergivie if

the estimates applied to the assessment of theseredule amount have changed. An impairment loss is
reversible only up to the initial value of an as$e$s depreciation charges that would have beeate ifidhe
impairment loss had not been recognised.

i) Employee benefits
(i) Defined contribution plan

Defined contribution plans are post-employment fieptans under which the Group pays fixed conttiitnos

into a separate entity and will have no legal arstauctive obligation to make further payments. @ibations

payable to a defined contribution plan are recaghis cost of employee benefits and charged tit prdbss

in the period when the employee rendered the klsdevice. A prepayment is recognised as an asdaet
extent that the prepayment will lead to a reductiorfiuture payments or a cash refund. Contributitha

defined contribution plan that fall due within mdhan twelve months after the period in which thelyee
rendered the related service are discounted tophesent value.

(ii) Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measwre an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the
related service is provided.

The Group recognises liability for the amount expdcto be paid under short-term cash bonus or
profit-sharing plans if the Group has a presegall®r constructive obligation to pay this amousibaesult of
past service provided by the employee, and th@atitin can be estimated reliably.

(iii) Share-based payments (management stock optigrian)

The fair value of rights granted to employees tquae the Parent's shares at a specific price qogliis
recognised as an expense with a correspondingaseren equity. The fair value of the plan is irigia
measured as at the grant date. Fair value of phiens is recognised in the Group's profit or loser the
period during which employees become unconditigratititied to acquire the shares. The value optha is
reviewed as at the end of each reporting periodasndt the option vesting date, by changing thebmurof
options that are expected by the Group to be untondlly vested. Any changes in the fair valueloé plan
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are disclosed as an adjustment to values previqagsied in the current perio@ihe fair value of individual
rights remains unchanged, unless material modificatare made to the terms and conditions of tlaeesh
based scheme, for instance, with respect to thecisgeprice, the number of rights granted and thgting
conditions. In such a case, the fair value of aividual right may only increase.

j) Provisions

Provisions are recognised when the Group has amirésgal or constructive liability resulting fropast
events, which can be reliably estimated and whéclikely to cause an outflow of economic benefitsew
discharged. The amount of provision is determingdibcounting the projected future cash flows airderest
rate before tax that reflects current market esamaf the time value of money and the risks assediwith
the liability. The unwinding of the discount is ogmised as a finance cost.

k) Revenue
(i) Revenue from debt collection services

Revenue from debt collection services includes maeefrom the sale of debt collection services (fased
credit management) and revenue from purchase detbolpos.

Revenue from fee-based credit management services

Revenue from fee-based credit management servmmprises commission fees due for the collection of
debts. Such revenue is recognised on an accrual, Ioashe period in which the service was provideased
on the collected amounts.

Revenue from debt purchase

Estimated inflows from debt portfolios are divideto principal recoveries and interest determinsth@ the
discount rate. Recovered principal is recogniseredsction of the present value of the debt pad&lwhile
the interest received is recognised as revenuee@dam a given period. Moreover, changes in fairugal
resulting from changes in estimated future casWdldor a given debt portfolio and changes in thepaed
discount rate are disclosed as revenue earnedyivea period. For a detailed description of theoarting
policies relating to purchased debt portfolios, Ne&e 3(c)(i).

Revaluation of purchased debt portfolios is defimsda change in their fair value caused by intenast
fluctuations and/or change of estimates concerfutuge cash flows.

(i) Sales of goods for resale and materials

Revenue from sales of goods for resale and meagasalisclosed in the amount equal to the fair @alfithe
payment received, net of refunds, discounts anatesb

I) Lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognigedfit or loss of the period, on a straighteibasis
over the lease term. Lease incentives receivedeaagnised in profit or loss of the period as @regral part
of the total lease expense over the lease term.

Minimum lease payments under finance leases arertapped between the finance expense and the reduct
of the outstanding liability. The finance expenseailocated to each period during the lease termassto
produce a constant periodic rate of interest ondbestanding balance of the liability. Contingeaade
payments are accounted for by revising the mininhe@se payments over the remaining term of the Jease
when the lease adjustment is confirmed.
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m) Finance income and expenses

Finance income includes interest income on thedumgested by the Group (net of income on purchdsédl

see (k)(i)), dividend receivable and reversal opa@amment losses on financial assets. Interest iecdn
presented in profit or loss of the period on theraal basis using the effective interest rate nektividend

is accounted for in profit or loss of the periodaaghe date when the Group becomes entitled ®wivedhe

dividend.

Finance expenses include interest on debt financimginding of the discount on provisions, and impant
losses on financial assets. Borrowing costs thatrat directly attributable to acquisition, constion or
production of particular assets are recognisedrafitpor loss of the period using the effectiveeir@st rate
method. Foreign exchange gains and losses aredgostet amounts.

n) Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.gbti@nd deferred tax is recognised in profit os loEthe
period except to the extent that it relates to sirtmss combination or items recognised directigguity, or in
other comprehensive income.

When determining amounts of current and deferred tiae Company takes into account the impact of
uncertainty concerning potential additional taxbilities. The Company believes that the reported ta
liabilities are correct for all the tax years irspect of which inspections may be carried out Byatathorities.
This judgement is based on an assessment of a nwhfaetors, including interpretations of the taws and
previous years' experience. However, facts andiwistances which may materialize in the future, imaye

an effect on an assessment of correctness of thngxand past tax liabilities.

Current tax is the expected income tax payableeoeivable in respect of taxable income for the year
determined using tax rates enacted or substanéabligted at the reporting date, and any adjusttoentome
tax payable in respect of previous years' income.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of tempodiffgrences between the amounts of assets anditlesbias

disclosed in the statement of financial positiod #re amounts used for taxation purposes. Deféaeds not

recognised for the following temporary differences:

» initial recognition of assets or liabilities in r@msaction that is not a business combination laadaffects
neither profit or loss of the period, nor taxalsleame,

» differences relating to investments in subsidiaailed jointly controlled entities to the extent tkay will
probably not be disposed of in the foreseeabledutu

* initial recognition of goodwiill.

Deferred tax is measured at tax rates that arecéeghéo be applied when temporary differences ssjdyased
on the laws that have been enacted or substangwelgted by the reporting date.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offsehd Group has a legally enforceable right to oftsetent tax
liabilities and assets, and if they relate to ineciaxes levied by the same tax authority on theest@xable
entity, or on different taxable entities which imtkeeither to settle current tax liabilities andetsson a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle thiéitiegsimultaneously.

A deferred tax asset is recognised in respect my-¢arward tax losses, tax credits and deductiblaporary
differences in the amount of the probable taxabt®me which would enable these differences ana$oks
be utilised. Deferred tax assets are reviewed @t egporting date and are reduced to the extentttigno
longer probable that the related tax benefit wellrbalised.

0) Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings lp@esfor ordinary shares. Basic earnings per sagge
calculated by dividing the profit or loss attribol to holders of ordinary shares by the weighteerage
number of ordinary shares outstanding during th@geadjusted for the number of own shares heldhiey
Group. Diluted earnings per share are calculatediliging the adjusted profit or loss attributalbdeholders
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of ordinary shares by the weighted average numbér oodinary shares adjusted for the
number of own shares and the dilutive effect of potgntial shares.

p) Segment reporting

An operating segment is a component of the Groapahgages in business activities from which it masn
revenues and incur expenses relating to transactidth other components of the Group. Operatinglte®f
each segment are reviewed regularly by the Groehief operating decision maker that makes decisitosit
resources to be allocated to the segment and astsegserformance. Furthermore, discrete financial
information is available for each segment.

Operating results of each segment which are repactehe Parent's operating decision maker incltetas
which may be assigned directly to the segment aewhsi which may be assigned indirectly, based on
reasonable grounds. Unassigned items relate m@irdgmmon (corporate) assets (assets relating phinta

the management board of the entity), costs of titdys head office and corporate income tax asaats
liabilities.

g) New standards and interpretations not applied irthese financial statements

Some new standards, changes to standards andrétégigns which apply to the annual reporting pisio
beginning after January 1st 2012 have not beerieabipl the preparation of these financial statesefinong
the new Standards, amendments to standards amdréitgions these set out below will have a sigaift
impact on the financial statements. TGB®up intends to use them for the periods for whigy are valid for
the first time.

Standards and Interpretations endorsed by the EU, Wich are not yet effective for annual periods
ending on December 31st 2012

Standard/Interpretation Nature of impending change in accounting Ir_npact_ on Effectlve _for_
. financial periods beginning
endorsed by the EU policy .
statements on or after:

The Amendments:

erequire that an entity presents separately the
items of other comprehensive income that ma?/he Group has
be reclassified to profit or loss in the future P has
from those that would never be reclassified fo __ "0t Y€t
Amendments to IAS 1 profit or loss. If items of other comprehensi e_analysed the
Presentation of Financial [income are presented before tax, then the t )tdfnpaCt of the
Statements: Presentation of Itef tax amount should be allocated to each of the W Standard)  July 1st 2012

of Other Comprehensive Incon| two groups of other comprehensive income on its financial
items. standing and

) operating
*change the title of th&tatement of performance.

Comprehensive Inconte Statement of Profit
or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
however, other titles are also allowed to be
used.

IFRS 13 replaces the fair value measuremerithe Group hag
tguidance contained in individual IFRSs with a  not yet
single source of fair value measurement| analysed the
guidance. It defines fair value, establisheg aimpact of the

IFRS 13Fair Value Measuremer January 1st 2013

20



The Kruk Group

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

framework for measuring fair value and se|
out disclosure requirements for fair value
measurements. IFRS 13 explains ‘how’ t
measure fair value when such measureme
required or permitted by other IFRSs. IFRS
does not introduce new requirements to
measure assets or liabilities at fair value, nor
does it eliminate the practicability exceptions
to fair value measurements that currently exist
in certain standards.

fs new Standard
on its financial
p standing and
Nt isoperating

1®erformance.

IFRS 10Consolidated Financial
Statements

S
es,

IFRS 10 provides a new single model to b
applied in the control analysis for all investe
including entities that currently are SPEs in
scope of SIC-12. IFRS 10 introduces ney
requirements to assess control that are diffg
from the existing requirements in IAS 27
(2008). Under the new single control model
investor controls an investee when (1) iti
exposed or has rights to variable returns fr
its involvements with the investee, (2) has the
ability to affect those returns through its pov
over that investee and (3) there is a link
between power and returns.

V

b O

thEhe Group hag
reanalysed the
impact of the
anew Standard

bmstanding and

veperformance.

not yet

n its financial

operating

January 1st 2014

IFRS 12Disclosure of Interests i
Other Entities

IFRS 12 requires additional disclosures
relating to significant judgements made i

-

joint arrangements, associates and/or
unconsolidated structured entities.

The Group hag

determining the nature of interests in an enfitypew Standard
on its financial

not yet
analysed the
impact of the

standing and
operating
performance.

January 1st 2014

Statements

IAS 27 (2011) carries forward the existing
accounting and disclosure requirements of
27 (2008) for separate financial statemen

s
with some minor clarifications. The existing
0

incorporated into IAS 27 (2011). The
Standard no longer addresses control an
requirements relating to the preparation

been carried over into IFRS Tbnsolidated
Financial Statements

Aﬁwe Group has

requirements of IAS 28 (2008) and IAS 31 for

IAS 27 (2011)Separate Financial separate financial statements have also bg¢en

consolidated financial statements, which hgve

not yet
analysed the
impact of the
new Standard
on its financial
standing and
operating

performance.

January 1st 2014
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Standards and interpretations not yet endorsed byhte EU as at December 31st 2012

Effective
Standards and Impact on :
. . . . . . . . : for periods
interpretations not yet Nature of impending change in accounting policy financial beginni
eginning
endorsed by the EU statements .
on or after:
The amendments:
« define the date of initial application of IFRS &6 the
beginning of the annual reporting period, in whiEfRS
10 is applied for the first time (i.e. January 2813 if the|
standard has not been applied before that datejt Asat
date an entity assesses whether the consolidation

Amendments to IFRS 1
IFRS 11 and IFRS 12:
Consolidated Financial

Statements, Joint

Arrangements and
Disclosure of Interests i

Other Entities

conclusion has changed in respect of investees;
D+ limit the requirement to provide adjusted compised
information to the period immediately preceding tiee
of initial application, which applies to all stamda being
amended. Entities which voluntarily present comraes
data for more than one period are not requiredegtatg
nthe data for the additional comparative perid
» require the disclosure of the impact of a chaig

the date of initial application (disclosure of tingpact of
such changes on current period is not required);

» eliminate the requirement to present compara
information for the disclosures related to uncoisaéed
structured entities for any period before the fasnhua
period for which IFRS 12 is applied.

accounting policy on the period immediately prengdli

The Group has no|
yet analysed the
impact of the new

| Standard on its
financial standing

ds;and operating

b performance.

tive

January 1st
2013

IFRS 9Financial
Instruments (2009)

The Standard replaces the guidance contained in3\
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurer
about classification and measurement of financiakets
The Standard eliminates the existing IAS 39 categaof
held to maturity, available for sale and loans
receivables.

Financial assets will be classified
categories on initial recognition:

« financial assets measured at amortised cost; or
« financial assets measured at fair value.

A financial asset is measured at amortised coghef
following two conditions are met:

» the asset is held within a business model w
objective is to hold assets in order to collecttrmtual
cash flows; and,

* its contractual terms give rise on specified sldtecash
flows that are solely payments of principal aneiiast or
the principal outstanding.
Gains and losses on remeasurement of financiakss
measured at fair value are recognised in profioes of
current period, except for an investment in an g0
instrument which is not held for trading. IFRS libas
an entity to make an irrevocable election, on ah
recognition, to present fair value measurement haf
investment in other comprehensive income (OCl).e

into one of

S
hent

and

WO

The Group has no|
yet analysed the
]Oign act of the new
tandard on its
financial standing
and operating
performance.

|Sse
ti

t
Th

O

election is available on an individual instrumemgt-

January 1st
2015
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instrument basis. No amount recognised in OCI ma
ever reclassified to profit or loss at a later date

y b

Amendments to IFRS 9

Financial Instruments
(2010)

The 2010 additions to IFRS 9 replace the guidand&$
39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurgm
about the classification and measurement of fir@nci
liabilities and the derecognition of financial assand
financial liabilities.

The Standard retains almost all of the existing
requirements of IAS 39 on the classification and
measurement of financial liabilities and the deggtgtion
of financial assets and financial liabilities.

The Standard requires that the amount of changgrin
value attributable to changes in the credit risk of
financial liability designated at initial recogmiti as
measured at fair value through profit or loss stidnd
presented in other comprehensive income, with tirdy
remaining amount of the total gain or loss included
profit or loss of current period. However, if this
requirement creates or enlarges an accounting neim3
in profit or loss, then the whole fair value charge
presented in profit or loss of current period.

Amounts presented in other comprehensive income a
not subsequently reclassified to profit or loss in
subsequent periods but may be transferred withiityeq
Derivative financial instruments that are linkedatad
must be settled by delivery of an unquoted equity
instrument whose fair value cannot be reliably mesd,
are required to be measured at fair value unde8IgR

D

The Group has no|
yet analysed the
impact of the new
Standard on its
financial standing
and operating
performance.

e

January 1st
2015

Amendments to IFRS 9

Financial Instruments
andIFRS 7 Financial

Instruments: Disclosure

requirements relating to the initial applicationleRS 9
Financial Instruments (2009) and IFRS 9 Financial
Instruments (2010).

The amended IFRS 7 requires an entity to disclomeem
details about the effect of the initial applicatiohlFRS 9
when the entity does not restate comparative inddion
in accordance with the amended requirements of I&R
If an entity adopts IFRS 9 on or after January?0dt3,
then it will no longer be required to restate corafige

| information for periods prior to the date of initia
application.

If an entity early adopts IFRS 9 in 2012, then éym
either restate comparative information or proviue t
enhanced disclosures as required by the amende?l TF
If an entity early adopts IFRS 9 prior to 2012 rtimeither
restatement of comparative information nor provisid
the enhanced disclosures under the amended IFRS 7
required.

v

The Amendments change the disclosure and restatenjen

The Group has no
5 yet analysed the
impact of the new
Standard on its
financial standing
and operating
performance.

January 1st
2015
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4, Fair value measurement

In many cases, the accounting and disclosure psladopted by the Group require that the fair vafugoth
financial and non-financial assets and liabilitidse determined. Fair values are determined
and disclosed using the methods presented belovustified cases, further information concernirg t
assumptions used for the calculation of fair valbese been presented in respective notes speaifibet
relevant assets or liabilities.

(i) Property, plant and equipment

Fair value of property, plant and equipment acqlime a result of a business combination is basethen
market value of such property, plant and equipniEm. market value of real property is the estimatedunt

for which, as at the valuation date of the realpprty, it could be exchanged between knowledgeabte
willing

parties in an arm’s length transaction executeet afppropriate marketing activities have been cotadli Fair
value of other items of property, plant and equiptme determined using the market approach and cost
methods which are based on market quoted pricesitfigifar assets, if available, and, in justifiedses, on
replacement costs.

(ii) Intangible assets

Fair value of patents and trademarks acquired @swt of a business combination is determined dhase
estimated discounted payments of royalties thatewest incurred as a result of the acquisition af th
ownership title to the patent or trade mark. Falug of customer relationships acquired as a reglltisiness
combinations is determined using the multi-periadess of earnings method under which the valuenof a
asset is measured, net of any reliably determieéarm on all other assets participating in the tavaaof
related cash flows.

Fair value of other intangible assets is basedhendiscounted cash flows expected from the usengr a
disposal of such assets.

(iii) Inventories

Fair value of inventories acquired as a result blisiness combination is determined based on tiaated
selling price in the ordinary course of businesd, of estimated cost of preparing the inventoragsshle and
executing the sale and a reasonable profit maraged on the expenditures incurred to prepare tteniaries
for sale and execute the sale.

(iv) Trade and other receivables

Fair value of trade and other receivables is eséichas the present value of future cash flows disteml using
a market interest rate as at the reporting dateeiRa&bles with short maturities are not discourttedause
their carrying amount is approximately equal tdrtfesr value. Fair value is estimated only for {arpose of
disclosure.

(v) Financial instruments at fair value through prdfit or loss

Fair value of debt portfolios purchased is cal@dabased on the expected future cash flows refatdwe debt
portfolios, discounted with a rate reflecting thedit risk associated with each portfolio. The rased for
discounting is calculated as an internal rate efirreon an investment as at the date of acquisitiba
portfolio and is verified so that it includes theegent risk free rate and the present risk prenassociated
with the credit risk for each portfolio.
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(vi) Financial liabilities other than derivative instruments

Fair value estimated for the purpose of disclossiaalculated based on the present value of futashé flows
from repayment of principal and payment of interd&tcounted using the market interest rate effectis at
the end of the reporting period. For finance lekakilities, the market interest rate is determingith
reference to similar lease agreements. Liabilitigh short maturities and liabilities for which arest rates are
adjusted for changes in base rates on an on-ga@sis lare not discounted because their carrying atrisu
approximately equal to their fair value.

(vii) Share-based payments (management stock optigaian)

Valuation of the plan has been performed usingBllaek-Scholes model. This model has been chosenadue
the fact that it is widely used for valuation oftiops and relatively simple. The stock option ptioes not
contain any elements which would call for applicatof any more sophisticated models. The selectediein
takes into account all the key factors affecting ¢bst recognised by the Group, including:

» the expected exchange rate applicable on exertise aption (based on historical exchange rates and

their changes),

» the option vesting period,

» the time and conditions of exercise of an option,

* the risk-free rate.
For the purpose of valuation of the plan, it hasrbassumed that all the conditions for grantingoogtwill be
met and that all the eligible persons will accégt doptions they have been granted and then witceseethem,
that is purchase the shares corresponding to su@ine on the first day following the vesting pefio

5. Financial risk management
Introduction
The Group is exposed to the following risks relatethe use of financial instruments:

» credit risk

» liquidity risk

* market risk
This note presents information on the Group's exygo® each type of the above risks, the Groupjeatibes,
policies and procedures for measuring and manabiegisks, and the Group’s management of capitate N
27 to the consolidated financial statements presespective quantitative disclosures.

Key policies of risk management

The Management Board is responsible for establishisk management procedures and for overseeirig the
application.

The Group’s risk management policies are estaldishédentify and analyse the risks faced by theupr to
set appropriate risk limits and controls, and taitay risks and adherence to the limits. The rigkhagement
policies and systems are reviewed on a regulas p@sreflect changes in market conditions andGheup’s
activities. The Group, through appropriate trainamgl management standards and procedures, airesdtogd

a disciplined and constructive control environmémtwhich all employees understand their roles and
obligations.

Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to thed@p if a customer or counterparty to a financiatioment fails

to meet its contractual obligations. Credit rislcidefly associated with receivables for the sexsiprovided
by the Group and from purchased debt portfolios.
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Trade and other receivables

The Management Board has established a credit ypolNbereby each client is evaluated for its
creditworthiness before any payment dates and ottr@ractual terms and conditions are offered éodlent.
The evaluation includes external ratings of thertliwhen available, and in some cases bank refesei&ach
client is assigned a transaction limit which reprgs the maximum transaction amount for which nreyal
from the Management Board is required.

The Group regularly monitors whether payments aeglanwhen due, and if any delays are found, the
following actions are taken:

- notices are sent to clients

- e-mails are sent to clients

- telephone calls are made to clients.

Over 60% of clients have conducted business wighGhoup for at least three years. In only few cédeeses
were incurred by the Group as a result of non-paymErade and other receivables mainly represesd fe
receivable in respect of debt collected for clients

The Group's exposure to credit risk mainly restdiftem individual characteristics of each client. The
Management Board believes that the Group's crésht is low as the Group's counterparties are mainly
financial institutions and reputable companies. Tneup's largest client generates 1.05% of the Bsaotal
revenue (2011: 2.6%). Receivables from the Grolgrgest client represented 19.15% of total trade
receivables, VAT inclusive, as at December 31s22@ecember 31st 2011: 12.32%). Therefore, thermis
significant concentration of credit risk at the Gpo

The Group recognises impairment losses which reptéass estimates of incurred losses on trade diner o
receivables. Impairment losses comprise specifisds related to individually significant exposures.

Purchased debt portfolios

Purchased debt portfolios include overdue debtshwpiior to the purchase by the Group were oftdajest to
collection by the seller of the portfolio or by ldrtd party acting on the seller's behalf. Therefaredit risk
related to the purchased debt portfolios is retdyinigh, although the Group has the experienceaaivdnced
analytical tools necessary to estimate such risk.

As at the date of purchase of a debt portfolio, @®up evaluates he portfolio's credit risk whigh i
subsequently reflected in the price offered forgbefolio.

As the purchased debt portfolios are measurediatvédue, the credit risk is reflected in the poliths'
valuations as at the end of each reporting period.

As at each valuation date, the Group estimatesréndit risk based on past inflows from a given fodid as
well as other portfolios featuring similar charaigtcs. The following parameters are taken intcoamt in the
credit risk assessment:

* Debt
- outstanding amount
- principal
- principal to debt ratio
- amount of credit granted / total amount of invoices
- type of product
- debt past due (DPD)
- contract's term
- time elapsed from contract execution
- collateral (existence, type, amount).
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* Debtor:
- credit amount repaid so far / amount of invoicexare so far
- time elapsed from the last payment made by theodebt
- region
- debtor's legal form
- debtor's death or bankruptcy
- debtor's employment.

» Debt processing by the previous creditor:
- availability of the debtor's correct contact data
- in-house collection — by the previous creditor'siawsources
- outsourced collection — debt management by thirtgsa
- issuance of a bank enforced collection order
- court collection
- bailiff collection.

Changes of the credit risk assessment have arn eifiethe expected amount of future cash flows wiaih
used as a basis of valuation of the purchasedpaetiolios.

The Group minimises the risk by performing a thgtowaluation of each portfolio before it is purobes
taking into account the likelihood of recovery ofvésted capital and the estimated costs of theatah
process. Debt portfolios are purchased at offiaiadtions, and prices offered by the Group in méstuch
auctions do not differ significantly from pricesfered by the Group's competitors. A similar valoatbf a
debt portfolio by several specialist companiehatdame time reduces the risk of an incorrect tialua

The market value of a portfolio and its maximumghase price are determined based on a complegtisiaiti
and economic analysis. Initially, portfolios arevided into sub-portfolios based on debt amount tgpé of
security. This is done to select debts which candbeed using statistical methods. Remaining sutfgms
are valued on a case-by-case basis in a due dikgamocess.

Proceeds are estimated based on a statistical rdedeloped on the basis of available and precselgcted
reference data matching the valuation data. Thereate data is derived from a database containing
information on portfolios previously purchased aotlected by the Group.

Once the evaluation of effectiveness and debt ctidlie tools is completed, all parameters and coatpar
data for the reference portfolio, collection pragesfficiency curve and risk are gathered. Alstha stage
additional parameter reviews are considered, baseepert opinions. A single document (business)pks
then drafted, containing a summary of adopted ags8ans and the resultant projection of expectedh ciasvs
from a portfolio, and a financial model is struetdr The business plan serves to define the maxipwrohase
price that can be offered. The maximum price istseted on the expected investment yield (mainly the
internal rate of return, payback period, and noimetarn). The expected return on investment largejpends

on the risk inherent in a given project, which uinnt depends on quality of the data provided byctient for
valuation, reference data matching, number anditguafl both macro- and microeconomic expert indicat
used to prepare the cash flow forecast.

Moreover, the Group diversifies the risk by puréhgwvarious types of debt, with varying degreeprablems
and delinquency periods.

The Group uses the following collection measures:

notices

phone calls

text messages

partial debt cancellation

intermediation in securing an alternative sourcénancing,
doorstep collection (at home or workplace)

detective activities

amicable settlements

court collection

enforcement against collateral.
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Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk of potential difficulte that the Group may have with meeting its findrcdilities
settled through delivery of cash or other finan@asets. The Group's liquidity risk managementcgois
designed to ensure that the Group's liquidity isllaimes sufficient to meet liabilities in a tilgemanner, both
in a regular and crisis situation, without expodimg Group to a risk of loss or damage to its refborn.

The Group mitigates the liquidity risk through donbus collection, which ensures constant casbws] The
Group also monitors and takes actions to ensurpeprperformance of its borrowing agreements. Debt
portfolio purchases involve making large one-offipants. To secure necessary funding, the Grougsreln
external financing in the form of bank borrowingsotes.

Market risk

Market risk is related to changes in such marketofa as exchange rates, interest rates or stéméspvhich
affect the Group’s performance or the value ofrimal instruments it holds. The objective of markisk
management is to maintain and control the Grougsure to market risk within assumed limits, while
seeking to optimise the rate of return.

In the Management Board's opinion, for the Growprtiarket risk relates primarily to exposure torikk of
changes in the PLN/RON exchange rate, given theugsoconsiderable investments in debt portfolios
denominated in RON. Other market risks follow nmaiftbom changes in interest rates on financial litibs
and cash and equivalents, as well as from chamg#eirisk-free rate adopted to estimate the falues of
purchased debt portfolios. As at December 31st 2832ts denominated in foreign currencies accduote
26.47% of total assets, while liabilities denométhin foreign currencies represented 1.92% of tithllities
(December 31st 2011: 29.9% and 1.9% respectively).

The Group does not use financial instruments tgéedterest rate risks or exchange rate risks,Usecaash
payments in foreign currencies are reinvestedarmptirchase of debt portfolios in the same currency.

Capital management

The Management Board's capital management policessgned to secure a solid capital base necessary
maintain the trust of investors, lenders and otharket participants, and to ensure future busigessth. The
Management Board monitors the return on equityinddfby the Group as the ratio of operating prdss)

to equity, excluding non-controlling interests.

The Management Board seeks to strike a balancesbata higher rate of return achievable with highedst
levels and the benefits and security offered bglia €apital base. The Group aims to achieve a hégirn on
equity; in the reporting period from January 1si2Qo December 31st 2012 the rate was 34.3% (2011:
40.3%). To compare, the weighted average ratetefast on interest-bearing debt (excluding lialsitwith

an assumed interest rate) was 9.06% (2011: 9.1%).

The Group's debt ratio, i.e. the ratio of totabiléies under borrowings and other debt instruregigsued
notes and liabilities under finance lease agreesnemttotal equity, was 1.88 as at December 31sf 201
(December 31st 2011: 2.0).

In the reporting period from January 1st 2012 taddeber 31st 2012, there were no changes in thepGrou
approach to capital management.

As required by the Commercial Companies Code, hiagescapital of the Parent must be at least PLN 100
thousand. The Parent is required to allocateaet [8% of profit to reserve funds serving to covetential
future losses. Contributions to the reserve furrdsnaade until the funds reach at least one thirthefshare
capital value.
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6. Reporting and geographical segments
Reporting segments

The Group has two principal reporting segments ritestt below. The President of the Management Board
reviews internal management reports relating tohebgsiness segment at least quarterly. The Group's
reporting segments conduct the following activities

» Debt purchase: collection of purchased debt;
» Credit management: fee-based collection of delient's behalf.

Information on the performance of each reportingnsent is presented below. The key performance oretri
each reporting segment is gross profit, which $gldsed in the management's internal reports rexdewy the
President of the Management Board. A segment'ssgoosfit is used to measure its performance, as the
management believes the gross profit to be the aygstopriate metric for the assessment of the setgne
results against other entities operating in the$ny.

The Group's operating activities concentrate irew §eographical segments: Poland, Romania, thehCzec
Republic and Slovakia.

The Group's operations are also divided into thme& geographical segments:
+ Poland
* Romania

* Other foreign markets
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Reporting segments

PLN '000

Revenue
Purchased debt portfolios

Debt collection services
Other products

Direct and indirect costs
Purchased debt portfolios

Debt collection services
Other products

Gross profit
Purchased debt portfolios

Debt collection services
Other products

Administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Other income

Other expenses (unallocated)
Finance income/costs

Pre-tax profit
Income tax

Net profit

01.01.2012 - 01.01.2011 -
31.12.2012 31.12.2011
342,992 274,031
302,996 230,351
32,883 40,966
7,113 2,714
(148,882) (130,360)
(122,176) (103,123)
(20,515) (23,265)
(6,191) (3,972)
194,110 143,671
180,820 127,228
12,368 17,701
922 (1,258)
(50,258) (40,920)
(7,335) (5,427)
2,516 1,367
(2,361) (2,696)
(51,579) (27,449)
85,094 68,546
(3,900) (2,154)
81,194 66,392
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Geographical segments

In the presentation of data by geographical segsnsegments' revenue is recognised based on @ugoloof

debt collection offices.

Revenue by geographical segments:

PLN '000

Revenue
Poland

Romania
Other foreign markets

Direct and indirect costs
Poland

Romania
Other foreign markets

Gross profit
Poland

Romania
Other foreign markets

Administrative expenses
Depreciation and amortisation expense
Other income

Other expenses (unallocated)
Finance income/costs

Pre-tax profit

Income tax expense

Net profit

01.01.2012 - 01.01.2011 -
31.12.2012 31.12.2011
342,992 274,031
240,099 170,010
85,103 102,892
17,790 1,128
(148,882) (130,360)
(115,485) (106,785)
(24,130) (23,275)
(9,267) (300)
194,110 143,671
124,614 63,225
60,973 79,617
8,523 828
(50,258) (40,920)
(7,335) (5,427)
2,516 1,367
(2,361) (2,696)
(51,579) (27,449)
85,094 68,546
(3,900) (2,154)
81,194 66,392
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7. Revenue
PLN 000 01.01.2012 - 01.01.2011 -
31.12.201z 31.12.2011
Revenue from debt purchase 302,996 230,351
Revenue from debt collection services 32,883 40,966
Revenue from other services 7,113 2,714
342,992 274,031
Revenue from debt purchase includes:
PLN 000 01.01.2012 - 01.01.2011 -
31.12.2012 31.12.2011
Interest income adjusted for actual payments 298,299 210,603
Revaluation of debt portfolios 4,697 19,748
302,996 230,351
Remeasurement of fair value of purchased debt portfolios
PLN ‘000 01.01.2012 - 01.01.2011 -
31.12.2012 31.12.2011
Revision of recovery forecast 5,192 21,040
Change due to change in discount rate (495) (1,292)
4,697 19,748

Re-measurement of purchased debt portfolios repieshanges in fair value of financial assets atviaue
through profit or loss which have been designagesugh at the time of their initial recognition.

Revenue forecast update is primarily based onribb/sis of:
- debtors' behaviour patterns and effectivenesiseotollection tools used;

- assessment of debtors' financial standing in dbietext of macroeconomic developments on particular

markets;

- changes in currency exchange rates against RirNi¢bt portfolios not re-valued in the functionafrency).

Pursuant to the accounting policies applied byGheup, revenue and gains from financial instrumemtsir
value through profit and loss are presented aswe/&om purchased debt portfolios under operatingme.

Revenue from fee-based credit management inclugisnission fees ranging from 2% to 49% of collected
debts. Commission fee rates depend on delinquercpds and on whether there have been any prior
collection attempts. The Group's key client acceuior 10.09% of total revenue from fee-based credit
management (2011: 17.7%).

32



The Kruk Group

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

8. Other income

PLN '000

Unidentified time-barred payments written off

Release of impairment loss on receivables

Return of compensation for automobile caused damage
Sale of property, plant and equipment

Re-invoiced costs of services and court fees

Other

9. Other operating expenses

PLN '000

Court fees

Advertising

Raw material and consumables used
Taxes and charges

Impairment loss on receivables
Employee trainings

Business trips

Representation and entertainment expenses
Car insurance

Motor vehicle losses

Property insurance

Re-invoiced costs of services

Other

10. Salaries and Employee benefits

PLN '000

Salaries and wages
Other social security contributions

Old-age and disability pension contributions (defirbenefit plans)

Contribution to the State Fund for the Disabled
Equity-settled share-based payments

01.01.2012 - 01.01.2011 -
Note 31.12.2012 31.12.2011
832 -
27 24 53
361 223
259 247
657 619
383 225
2,516 1,367
Note 01.01.2012 - 01.01.2011 -
31.12.2012 31.12.2011
(40,686) (28,350)
(5,381) (8,548)
(6,677) (6,385)
(10,743) (8,755)
27 (180) (129)
(924) (921)
(1,034) (1,048)
(146) (238)
(639) (377)
(397) (219)
(91) (183)
(425) (547)
(101) (919)
(67,424) (56,619)
01.01.2012 - 01.01.2011 -
31.12.2012 31.12.2011
(68,975) (57,844)
(3,951) (4,590)
(11 637) (6,427)
(904) (768)
(2,346) (890)
(87,813) (70,519)
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11. Finance income and expenses
Recognised as profit or loss for current period

PLN '000

Interest income on loans and receivables
Interest income on bank deposits

Decrease in impairment loss on loans advanced
Other finance income

Interest expense on financial liabilities measwedmortised cost
Net foreign exchange gains/(losses)

Impairment losses on financial instruments measatesnortised cost

Net finance expenses recognised in profit or loss

The finance income and expenses shown above indhideest income and expenses relating to assets

(liabilities) other than those at fair value thraygyofit or loss:

PLN '000

Total interest income on financial assets
Total interest expense on financial liabilities

Recognised under other comprehensive income

PLN '000

Exchange differences on translating foreign openati

Attributable to:
Owners of the parent
Finance income recognised directly in other compnslve income

01.01.2012 - 01.01.2011 -
31.12.201Z 31.12.2011
- 1,145

1,232 1,532

- 236

- 21

1,232 2,934
(49,844) (28,119)
(2,967) (2,264)
(52,811) (30,383)
(51,579) (27,449)

01.01.2012 - 01.01.2011 -
31.12.2012 31.12.2011
1,232 2,677
(49,844) (28,119)
01.01.2012 - 01.01.2011 -
31.12.2012 31.12.2011
(4,104) (55)
(4,104) (55)
(4,104) (55)
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12. Income tax

Income tax recognised in profit or loss of the pead

PLN '000 Note 01.01.2012- 01.01.2011 -
31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Income tax (current portion)

Income tax for the period 3,666 690

Income tax (deferred portion)

Origination/ reversal of temporary differences 17 234 1,464
3,900 2,154

Reconciliation of effective tax rate

PLN '000 Jan 12012 — Dec Jan 12011 — Dec
312012 312011
Net profit for the period 81,194 66,392
Income tax disclosed in the statement of incomess (3,900) (2,154)
Pre-tax profit for the reporting period (assumir@ydtax rate) 89 136 68914
Pre-tax loss for the reporting period (assuming 1&%rate) (556) (18)
Pre-tax loss for the reporting period (assuming /29% tax rate) (3,486) (350)
Tax calculated at the tax rate applicable in Poldi9d6) (16,936) (13,094)
Tax calculated using the tax rate applicable in Roian (16%) 89 3
Tax calculated using the tax rate applicable inGkech Republic (19%/20%) 662 70
Effect of non-deductible expenses (18,669) (8,709)
Effect of tax-exempt income 30,810 20,105
Adjustment of tax losses for prior years - (178)
Change in temporary differences not recognisecfarded tax expense 144 (351)
(3,900) (2,154)

The effective tax rate differs from the applicabde rates as the consolidated data includes datmtitfes
whose operations are not taxed with income taxsédeend investment funds) or are taxed at prefateates
(a Luxembourg-based subsidiary).

35



The Kruk Group

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

13. Property, plant and equipment

PLN '000

Gross value of property, plant and equipment
Gross value as at Jan 1 2011

Purchase

Sale/ liquidation

Effect of exchange rate changes

Gross value as at Dec 31 2011

Gross value as at Jan 1 2012
Purchase
Sale/ liquidation

Reclassification of tangible assets under constmict
Effect of exchange rate changes
Gross value as at Dec 31 2012

Other
property, Tangible
Buildings and Plant and plant and assets under
structures equipment Vehicles equipment construction Total
1,823 8,131 7,045 983 27 18,009
191 3,048 3,777 594 840 8,450
(28) (391) (1,160) (53) - (1,632)
(46) (32) (55) (32) - (165)
1,940 10,743 9,607 1,505 867 24,662
Other
property, Tangible
Buildings and Plant and plant and assets under
structures equipment Vehicles equipment construction Total
1,940 10,743 9,607 1,505 867 24,662
60 3,107 4,056 395 15 7,633
- (201) (727) (31) - (959)
- 867 - - (867) -
(55) (152) (88) (78) - (373)
1,945 14,364 12,848 1,791 15 30,963
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PLN '000

Depreciation and impairment losses

Depreciation and impairment losses as at Jan 1 2011
Depreciation

Reclassification

Decrease resulting from sale/ liquidation

Effect of exchange rate changes

Depreciation and impairment losses as at Dec 31 201

PLN '000

Depreciation and impairment losses as at Jan 1 2012
Depreciation

Decrease resulting from sale/ liquidation

Effect of exchange rate changes

Depreciation and impairment losses as at Dec 32 201

PLN '000

Net value
As atJan 1 2011
As at Dec 31 2011

As at Jan 1 2012
As at Dec 31 2012

Other Tangible assets

Buildings and Plant and property, plant under
structures equipment Vehicles and equipment construction Total
(441) (4,213) (3,276) (502) - (8,432)
(146) (1,754) (1,508) (232) - (3,640)
- 11 - (11) - -
66 354 1,036 34 - 1,490
44 65 91 46 - 246
477) (5,537) (3,657) (665) - (10,336)
Other Tangible assets
Buildings and Plant and property, plant under
structures equipment Vehicles and equipment construction Total
(477) (5,537) (3,657) (665) ; (10,336)
(535) (1,956) (1,903) (329) - (4,723)
- 201 675 2 - 878
30 330 39 28 - 427
(982) (6,962) (4,846) (964) - (13,754)
Other Tangible assets
Buildings and Plant and property, plant under
structures equipment Vehicles and equipment construction Total
1,382 3,918 3,769 481 27 9,577
1,463 5,206 5,950 840 867 14,326
1,463 5,206 5,950 840 867 14,326
963 7,402 8,002 827 15 17,209
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Property, plant and equipment under leases

Under finance lease agreements the Group usesngassears and trucks whose carrying amount as at
December 31st 2012 and December 31st 2011 was PPB6 thousand and PLN 6,142.0 thousand,

respectively. These items of property, plant andiggent also serve as security for liabilities untbase

agreements (see Note 23).

Tangible assets under construction

In 2012, the Group incurred costs related to threlmse of IT and telecommunication equipment natgxd in
service as at December 31st. As at December 312t &0d December 31st 2011, the value of tangildetas
under construction was PLN 15 thousand and PLNtB6Usand, respectively.

14. Other intangible assets

PLN '000

Gross value of intangible assets
Gross value as at Jan 1 2011
Produced internally

Other increase

Effect of exchange rate changes
Gross value as at Dec 31 2011

Gross value as at Jan 1 2012
Produced internally

Other increase

Decrease

Effect of exchange rate changes
Gross value as at Dec 31 2012

PLN '000

Amortisation and impairment losses

Amortisation and impairment losses as at Jan 1 2011
Amortisation

Effect of exchange rate changes

Amortisation and impairment losses as at Dec 311201

Amortisation and impairment losses as at Jan 1 2012
Amortisation

Effect of exchange rate changes

Decrease

Amortisation and impairment losses as at Dec 32201

Computer
software, licences,

permits Other Total
8,082 369 8,451
2,180 - 2,180
1,350 - 1,350

29 - 29
11,641 369 12,010
11,641 369 12,010
2,309 - 2,309
1,390 - 1,390
(244) - (244)
(24) - (24)
15,072 369 15,441

Computer
software, licences,

permits Other Total
(3,286) (228) (3,514)
(1,740) 47 (1,787)
(58) - (58)
(5,084) (275) (5,359)
(5,084) (275) (5,359)
(2,565) (47) (2,612)
103 - 103

73 - 73
(7,473) (322) (7,795)
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PLN '000 Computer
software, licences,
permits Other Total

Net value
As at Jan 1 2011
As at Dec 31 2011 4,796 141 4,937

6,557 94 6,651
As at Jan 1 2012
As at Dec 31 2012 6,557 94 6,651

7,599 47 7,646
15. Goodwill
PLN '000 Rejestr

RAVEN Law Dtuznikow
Firm ERIF BIG S.A. Total

Gross
Gross value as at Jan 1 2011 299 725 1,024
Gross value as at Dec 31 2011 299 725 1,024
Gross value as at Jan 1 2012 299 725 1,024
Gross value as at Dec 31 2012 299 725 1,024
Net value
As at Jan 1 2011 299 725 1,024
As at Dec 31 2011 299 725 1,024
As at Jan 1 2012 299 725 1,024
As at Dec 31 2012 299 725 1,024

Tests for impairment of cash-generating units whichnclude goodwill

For impairment testing purposes, goodwill was ated to the Group's operating units, being the lsstal
units (not larger than the Group's operating segsngescribed in Note 6) for which goodwill is miaméed for
internal management purposes.

Recoverable value of goodwill associated with thghegenerating units specified above is assessad foa
their value in use. Value in use is an estimatedgmt value of future cash flows generated by suiks.

The key values adopted for the estimation procefésct the Management Board's expectations regaittie
future of the debt collection industry and are base external sources and in-house research (icztoata).
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16. Current investments

PLN '000 31.12.201z2 31.12.2011

Current investments

Financial assets at fair value through profit @slo 873,497 718,706

Loans advanced 6,515 3,222
880,012 721,928

In 2010, the Parent commenced offering loans tivididals not engaged in any business activity. lsoare
granted for up to PLN 2.5 thousand and their mégsgrrange from 3 to 15 months. The loans bearastet
fixed rates. Loans bear interest at an averageofag®%. Additional revenue comprises commissiogsfe

arrangement fees and insurance.

Financial assets at fair value through profit agslanclude purchased debt portfolios. Had the Gnooip
decided to classify purchased debt portfolios martial assets at fair value through profit or Jaksy would
be classified as loans and receivables. For tles ghverning valuation of purchased debt portfobee Note
3(c)(i). Purchased debt portfolios are divided ithie following main categories:

PLN '000 31.12.201z 31.12.2011
Purchased debt portfolios
Bank loans, including: 810,764 655,159
- consumer loans 809,641 653,042
- car loans 871 1,771
- mortgage loans 252 346
Telecommunication bills 43,630 54,502
Cash loans (other than granted by banks) 346 381
Mixed portfolios 18,757 8,664
873,497 718,706
The following assumptions were made in the valuatibdebt portfolios:
31.12.201z 31.12.2011
Discount rate
- risk-free* 4.47%-6.24% 4.57%
- risk premium** 6.25%-416.54% 5.08%-194.42%
Period for which recoveries have been estimated: Jan 2013 - Dec 202 Jan 2012 - Dec 2022
1,701,013 1,438,654

Nominal value of expected future recoveries

* depending on the market
** gapplicable to 99% of fair value
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Projected schedule of inflows from debt portfol{osminal value):

PLN ‘000 31.12.2012 31.12.2011
Period
Up to 6 months 243,428 203,109
From 6 to 12 months 239,631 210,771
From 1 to 2 years 424,971 364,792
From 2 to 5 years 597,289 494,143
Over 5 years 195,694 165,839
1,701,013 1,438,654

A portion of debt portfolios is secured with moigga (mortgage loan portfolios) or registered pled@ar
loan portfolios). The value of security held by tBeoup is difficult to assess and varies on a ¢tgsease
basis.

If necessary, as at the end of each quarter thepGupdates the following parameters which are used
estimate the future cash flows:

- risk-free rate;

- risk premium;

- period for which cash flows are estimated;

- value of expected future cash flows estimatedguthe current data and debt collection tools.

For information on the Group's exposure to crediffrency and interest rate risks associated wgh it
investments, and on impairment losses for loanamekd and investments held to maturity, see Nate 27

Below are presented changes of net carrying anafithe purchased debt portfolios:

PLN '000

Purchased debt portfolios as at Jan 1 2011 263,228
Purchase of debt portfolios 568,879
Purchase price adjustment for discount (5,174)
Recoveries from debtors (341,122)
Revenue from debt purchase (interest and revahjatio 232,895
Purchased debt portfolios as at Dec 31 2011 718,706
Purchased debt portfolios as at Jan 1 2012 718,706
Purchase of debt portfolios 309,269
Adjustment following change in valuation (*) (347)
Purchase price adjustment for discount (793)
Recoveries from debtors (451,329)
Liabilities to debtors due to overpayments 1,097
Revenue from debt purchase (interest and revahjatio 302,996
Fair value translation differences (**) (6,102)
Purchased debt portfolios as at Dec 31 2012 873,415

(*) In the current year, portfolios purchased by KRUternational S.r.o. in the Czech Republic weregdtated into CZK, which is the
company's functional currency. Due to its negligieffect on consolidation, in prior periods theuadion currency was PLN.

(**) RON to PLN translation differences relating fair value of debt portfolios held by a subsidianhose functional currency is
RON, recognised between July 1st 2012 and Decenisr2®12 year (following introduction of RON as flaactional currency of
Secapital S.a.r.l. as of July 1st 2012)

Purchased debt portfolios with the carrying amoohtPLN 12,626 thousand as at December 31st 2012
(December 31st 2011: PLN 6,809 thousand) serve@gisy for liabilities under bank borrowings (Sdete
23).
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Deferred tax

Deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities have been r@sed in respect of the following items of assetd lgabilities

PLN '000

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit @slo
Trade and other receivables

Employee benefit obligations

Provisions and liabilities

Other

Tax loss carry forwards
Deferred tax assets/liabilities
Deferred tax assets offset against liabilities

Deferred tax assets/liabilities disclosed in the
statement of financial position

Assets Liabilities Net value

31.12.201z 31.12.2011 31.12.2012 31.12.2011 31.12.2012 31.12.2011
1,400 - (1,463) (1,113) (63) (1,113)

- - (1,106) (907) (1,106) (907)

- - - (144) - (144)

- 30 (311) (102) (311) (72)
2,046 2,182 - - 2,046 2,182
592 1,260 - (61) 592 1,199
321 70 - (15) 321 55
124 637 - - 124 637
4,483 4,179 (2,880) (2,342) 1,603 1,837
(2,880) (2,342) 2,880 2,342 - -
1,603 1,837 - - 1,603 1,837
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PLN '000

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Financial assets at fair value through profit @slo
Trade and other receivables

Employee benefit obligations
Provisions and liabilities
Other

Tax loss carry forwards

Change in Change in

temporary temporary

differences differences

recognised as recognised as
AsatJan1l profit or loss As at Dec 31 AsatJan1l profit or loss As at Dec 31
2011 for period 2011 2012 for period 2012
(808) (305) (1,113) (1,113) 1,050 63)
(689) (218) (907) (907) (199) (1,106)
467 (611) (144) (144) 144 -
35 (107) (72) (72) (239) (311)
1,849 333 2,182 2,182 (136) 2,046
947 252 1,199 1,199 (607) 592
25 30 55 55 266 321
1,475 (838) 637 637 (513) 124
3,301 (1,464) 1,837 1,837 (234) 1,603
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Change in temporary differences in a period

Poland

Tax loss for a given financial year may be utiliseder a period of five years, beginning in the year
immediately following the year when the loss waglimed. Under the Polish tax laws, up to 50% afss Imay
be utilised in each of the years of the five-yeaniqu.

Tax losses and periods over which they can besedili

PLN '000 Tax loss expiry date

losses 31.12.2012 31.12.2011
Tax loss for 2007 Dec 31 2012 - 517
Tax loss for 2008 Dec 31 2013 316 833
Tax loss for 2009 Dec 31 2014 - 96
Tax loss for 2010 Dec 31 2015 - 3,104
Tax loss for 2011 Dec 31 2016 119 119
Tax loss for 2012 Dec 31 2017 203 -

638 4,550

Applicable tax rate 19% 19%
Potential benefit of tax losses 121 865
Romania

Until 2009, tax loss could be used over a periofivef years, beginning in the year immediatelyduling the
year when the loss was incurred. In 2009 yearpthad over which tax losses can be used was extetud
seven years. In 2012 year, KRUK International Sdoks not have tax losses, which could be used.

Czech Republic

The Czech subsidiary may use the loss over a pafofive years, beginning in the year immediately
following the year when the loss was incurred. @12 year, KRUK International S.r.o. recorded altess of
PLN 9,210 thousand (December 31st 2011: PLN 1,2dddand).

PLN '000 Tax loss expiry date
losses 31.12.2012 31.12.2011
Tax loss for 2011 Dec 31 2016 1,244 1244
Tax loss for 2012 Dec 31 2017 9,210 -
10,454 1244
Applicable tax rate 19% 19%
Potential benefit of tax losses 1,986 236

Deferred tax assets of PLN 1.983 thousand (DeceBistr2011: PLN 535 thousand) were not includeithén
calculation of deferred tax as the probabilitytwdit use is uncertain.

Under the applicable tax laws, deductible tempomdifferences do not expire. Deferred tax assetsewer
identified for tax losses incurred by the entitsed in Poland, assuming a 19% tax rate, for dageb
incurred by the entities based in Romania, assumih§% tax rate, and for tax losses incurred byetitiies
based in Czech Republic, assuming a 19% tax raeselare tax rates applicable as at the end oépiueting
periods.
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17. Inventories
PLN '000 31.12.201zZ 31.12.2011
Materials 595 537
Prepaid deliveries 284 -
879 537

In the reporting period ended December 31st 20i2,Group did not recognise any
inventories.

18. Trade and other receivables, current tax receivable

impairment losses on

PLN 000 31.12.201z 31.12.2011
Trade receivables 12,019 12,804
Taxes and excise duties payable 4,080 1,988
Other receivables 1,080 1,366

17,179 16,158

For information on the Group's exposure to credit! @urrency risk as well as impairment losses on

receivables, see Note 27.

19. Cash and cash equivalents

PLN '000 31.12.2012 31.12.2011
Cash in hand 50 20
Cash on current accounts 42 679 36,185
42,729 36,205
Restricted cash 267 93

Restricted cash is represented by cash to be ¢raedfto clients in respect of debts collected ufgle-based

credit management operations, and the funds dEtdmpany's Social Benefits Fund.

For information on the Group's exposure to interat risk and a sensitivity analysis of finaneiasets and

liabilities, see Note 27.
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20. Equity

Share capital

Ordinary shares

01.01.2012 - 01.01.2011 -
31.12.201z 31.12.2011
‘000
Number of shares as at Jan 1 16,900 15,309
Issue of shares - 1,591
Number of fully-paid shares as at end of period 16,900 16,900
PLN
Par value per share 1.00 1.00

Parent's shareholder structure as at December 318012

Number of Par value of shares Share capital

Shareholder shares (PLN '000) held (%)
Polish Enterprise Fund IV L.P. 4,196,550 4,197 25%
Piotr Krupa 2,625,928 2,626 16%
Generali Otwarty Fundusz Emerytalny 866,101 866 5%
Other members of the Management Board 421,138 421 2%
Other Shareholders 8,790,623 8,791 52%

16,900,34C 16,900 100%

Issue of treasury shares

As at December 31st 2012, the registered shard¢atapas divided into 16,900 thousand ordinary share
(December 31st 2011: 16,900 thousand). The paeyaushare was PLN 1.

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled toivecapproved dividends and to exercise one voteepeh
share held at the Parent's General Meeting.

Other capital reserves

Other capital reserves are created by virtue @veait resolutions of the Company's General Meetirich
has the power to decide on allocation of such veserin addition, capital reserves are also createen
benefits are granted to employees under share-Ipas®@aents.

Share-based payments

In 2011, KRUK S.A. launched a share-based paymiant pvhich provides for the grant of rights to phase
shares at an agreed price (the Option Plan). Tta tost of the Option Plan recognised in the ineom
statement for 2011 and 2012 was PLN 890 thousaddPam 2,346 thousand, respectively. The amount
increased the Company's other capital reserves.

The incentive scheme operated by the Group iseaddd to the Management Board Members (exceptdor t
President of the Management Board) and key managgmesonnel of the Parent and Group companies.

The terms of the Option Plan for 2011-2014 wereraygx by virtue of resolutions of KRUK S.A.'s
Extraordinary General Meeting. Under the plan, iele persons will be granted the right to purchase
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Company shares on preferential terms defined irrglelution and the Terms of the Option Plan. Tipbts
will be vested on condition that an eligible pers®employed by the Company or its subsidiary anaias in
other legal relationship under which they providevices to the Company or its subsidiary for aqueof at
least twelve months in the calendar year precetlimgyear in which the offer to acquire/subscribe fo
subscription warrants is made.

For the purposes of the Option Plan, the Gener&itikg approved a conditional share capital incredsg to
PLN 845,016.00, through an issue of up to 845,0&6eS E ordinary bearer shares. The objective ef th
conditional share capital increase is to grantitfie to subscribe for Series E shares to holdessibscription
warrants that will be issued under the Option Plararder to implement the Option Plan, the Companay
also reacquire previously issued shares (withoutyicey out a new issue) and offer them to holdefrs o
subscription warrants on the same terms as in dse of the Series E shares. The holders of subiearip
warrants will be entitled to exercise the rightsstdbscribe for Series E shares attached to thecispitisn
warrants, at the issue price being equivalent éoigbue price of the Company shares in the IPO (B&NMO
per share), not earlier than six months after dwuition of the subscription warrants and nog¢ddhan on
June 30th 2016.

Subscription Warrants will be issued in four traeshone for each year of the reference periodfdrethe
financial years 2012-2014.

The Supervisory Board is authorised to offer supion warrants to eligible persons for a givenaficial
year, provided that two financial ratios, EPS aBdTDA or ROE, reach the levels specified below:

. In the financial year preceding the year in whilsl subscription warrants are to be offered in @miv
tranche, EPS increases by at least 17.5%;

. In the financial year preceding the year in which subscription warrants are to be offered in &myiv
tranche, EBITDA increases by at least 17.5%;

. In the financial year preceding the year in which subscription warrants are to be offered in &myiv

tranche, ROE equals at least 20%;

If the warrants are not offered in a given year thuéilure to satisfy the above criteria, the vaats for the
financial year may be allotted in a tranche fortaaofinancial year.

By virtue of a resolution of October 10th 2011, Extraordinary General Meeting set aside PLN 40,000
thousand from retained earnings and allocatedaaputal reserves. Capital reserves have beeredr@abrder
to reacquire own shares for the purposes of the@ptian.

In 2012, pursuant to Resolution No. 45/2012 ofKRJK Supervisory Board of July 20th 2012, issuedtoa
basis of the 2011-2014 Incentive Scheme for keyagament personnel of the Company and the Group
subsidiaries, as approved by virtue of Resolutian N2011 of the Extraordinary General Meeting UK

S.A. of March 30th 2011, the Company issued 189 si@8cription warrants under Tranche 1 and offered
them to the Eligible Persons specified in Appertlito Resolution No. 45/2012 of the KRUK Supervisory
Board.

Subscription warrants were delivered to Eligibleseas in the number specified in the SupervisorarBs
resolution on September 3rd 2012.
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Exchange differences on translating subsidiaries

Exchange differences on translating subsidiarieduite exchange differences on translating foreign
operations.

21. Earnings per share

Basic earnings per share

As at December 31st 2012, basic earnings per stene calculated based on net profit attributablevioers
of the Parent (holding ordinary shares) of PLN 8®,@housand (2011: PLN 66,205 thousand) and the
weighted average number of shares in the periodered by the financial statements of 16,900 thodisan

(2011: 16,415 thousand). The amounts were detedwadollows:

Net profit attributable to owners of the Parent

PLN 000 01.01.2012 - 01.01.2011 -

31.12.2012 31.12.2011
Net profit for the period 81,194 66,392
Non-controlling interests (155) (187)
Net profit attributable to owners of the Parent 81,039 66,205

Weighted average number of ordinary shares

1000 Note 01.01.2012 - 01.01.2011 -

31.12.201z2 31.12.2011
Number of ordinary shares as at Jan 1 21 16,900 15,309
Effect of share retirement and share issue - 1,106
Weighted average number of ordinary shares as@aBDe 16.900 16.415
PLN

Earnings per share 4.80 4.03

Diluted earnings per share

As at December 31st 2012, diluted earnings pereshare calculated based on net profit attributdble
owners of the Parent (holding ordinary shares)ldfl B1,039 thousand and the weighted average nuotber
shares in the period covered by the financial statgs of 16,957 thousand. The amounts were detedhan

follows:

‘000 Note 31.12.201z 31.12.2011
Number of ordinary shares as at Jan 1 21 16,900 16,415
Effect of issue of non-registered and unpaid shares 57 66
Weighted average number of ordinary shares as@BDe 16,957 16,481
PLN

Earnings per share (diluted) 4.78 4.03
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22. Liabilities under borrowings and other debt instruments

The note contains information on the Group's liiled under borrowings and other debt instrumergasared
at amortised cost. Information on the Group's ewp$0 currency and interest rate risks is preseméote
27.

PLN '000 31.12.2012 31.12.2011

Non-current liabilities

Secured borrowings 79,955 70,453
Liabilities under debt securities (unsecured) 323,477 264,888
Finance lease liabilities 5,747 4,156

409,179 339,497

Current liabilities

Current portion of secured borrowings 81,248 41,442
Liabilities under debt securities (unsecured) 103,953 94,097
Current portion of finance lease liabilities 2,003 1,964

187,204 137,503

Repayment terms and schedule for borrowings and o#r debt instruments

PLN '000 Currency Nominal interest rate Maturity 31.12.201z2 31.12.2011
Borrowings secured on the 1M WIBOR + margin
Group's assets PLN of 3-4.25 pp 2,016 161,203 111,895
Liabilities under debt securitie 3M WIBOR + 3.3-5.2
(unsecured) PLN p.p- 2,016 427,430 358,985

3M WIBOR or 1M
EURIBOR + 0.95-3.89
Finance lease liabilities EUR pp 2,017 7,750 6,120

596,383 477,000

Bank borrowings are secured with a registered @emgr purchased debt portfolios with carrying amaf
PLN 12,626 thousand as at December 31st 2012 (DmsreBist 2011: PLN 6,809 thousand), and with a
registered pledge over shares in Secapital S.afrluxembourg of PLN 184,990 thousand as at De@mb
31st 2012 (December 31st 2011: PLN 151,504 thoysand
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Repayment schedule for finance lease liabilities

PLN '000

As at Dec 31 2011
up to 1 year
from 1 to 5 years

As at Dec 31 2012
up to 1 year
from 1 to 5 years

Security over assets

PLN '000

Registered pledge over purchased portfolios andrasent of claims

financed with the facility, registered pledge oskares in Secapital S.a.r.
Property, plant and equipment under finance leases

23. Employee benefits payable
PLN '000

Salaries and wages payable

Liabilities to the Social Security Institution
Personal income tax

Accrued holidays

Accrued salaries and wages (bonuses)
Special accounts

Changes in accrued employee benefits

Change in accrued holidays

Value as at Jan 1 2011
Increase

Use
Value as at Dec 31 2011

Value as at Jan 1 2012
Increase

Use

Value as at Dec 31 2012

Future Present value of

minimum lease future minimum
payments Interest lease payments
2,005 41 1,964
4,706 550 4,156
6,711 591 6,120
2,144 141 2,003
5,990 243 5,747
8,134 384 7,750
31.12.2012 31.12.2011
197,616 158,313
7,266 6,142
204,882 164,455

31.12.2012 31.12.2011

4,967 3,943

4,175 2,711

800 709

1,972 1,394

6,645 8,399

84 56

18,643 17,212

1,015

1,669

(1,290)

1,394

1,394

2,212

(1,634)

1,972
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Change in accrued salaries and wages (bonuses)

Value as at Jan 1 2011 6,898
Increase 12,438
Use (9,281)
Release (1,656)
Value as at Dec 31 2011 8,399
Value as at Jan 1 2012 8,399
Increase 13,678
Use (14,007)
Release (1,425)
Value as at Dec 31 2012 6,645

24, Other current provisions

PLN '000 Other provisions
Value as at Jan 1 2011 174
Recognition 90
Value as at Dec 31 2011 264
Value as at Jan 1 2012 264
Recognition -
Value as at Dec 31 2012 264

Retirement severance pays

The Group does not recognise provisions for remeinseverance pays due to the young age of itsogegs
and absence of the employees' rights to severaayeip excess of severance pays guaranteed bwliberl
law. Based on the Management Board's estimateantloent of a potential provision would be insigrafit.

Tax risk

The countries in which the Group operates (in paldr, Poland and Romania) frequently amend thdatax
relating to value added tax, corporate and persaname tax, and social security contributions. rEfare, on
many occasions no reference can be made to ebedliggulations or legal precedents. Furthermde, t
applicable tax laws lack clarity, which leads tdfatiences in opinions and diverse interpretationtanf
regulations, both between individual public auttiesi and between public authorities and enterprifas
settlements as well as other settlements (incluttinge related to customs duties or foreign cuieshenay
be inspected by authorities which are competeritm@ose significant penalties. Any additional lidtiels
resulting from such inspections need to be paidh Wwiterest. As a result, the tax risk in those toes is
higher than in countries with more developed tapmes.

In the subsidiary in Romania, there is a specifik associated with the interpretation of tax layeserning
the taxation of the unit and those cooperating vtitBespite the Group have reasons for this aggrdo be
used, the subsidiary could be ruled out that inetent of a tax audit approach may be challengethdyax
authorities. In the case of lose, the maximum irneomx arrears from individuals and social security
contributions amount to 2,885 thousand (3,137 boagand RON), plus any interest.
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Tax settlements are subject to tax inspection fperdod of five years. In effect, the amounts dised in the
financial statements may be changed at a lateradtiiethey are finally determined by tax authesti

25. Trade and other payables

PLN '000 31.12.2012 31.12.2011
Trade payables to other entities 23,552 54,834
Deferred income 128 209
Tax and duties payable 4,876 5,455
Accruals and deferred income 5,777 3,035
Other liabilities 4,175 3,414

38,508 66,947

For information on exposure to currency risk aaqdillity risk associated with liabilities, see N@&

26. Financial instruments
Credit risk
Exposure to credit risk

Carrying amount of financial assets reflects theximam exposure to credit risk. Below is presentee t
maximum exposure to credit risk as at the end eféporting periods:

PLN '000
Note 31.12.201z 31.12.2011
Financial instruments at fair value through profiloss 16 873,497 718,706
Loans 16 6,515 3,222
Receivables 19 17,179 16,158
Cash and cash equivalents 20 42,729 36,205
939,920 774,291

Below is presented the maximum exposure to cregdittry geographical segment as at the end of theartiag
periods:

PLN '000
31.12.201z 31.12.2011
Poland 681,847 525,562
Romania 197,518 210,559
Czech Republic 60,555 38,170
939,920 774,291

52



The Kruk Group

Notes to the consolidated financial statements
Impairment losses

The maturity structure of trade and other receigmbis at the end of the reporting periods is pteddaelow:

PLN '000 Grossvalue  Impairment Grossvalue  Impairment
loss loss

31.12.2012 31.12.201z 31.12.2011 31.12.2011

Not past-due 15,815 - 12,735 -
Past-due, 0-30 days 658 - 510 -
Past-due, 31-90 days 470 - 650 -
Past-due, 91-180 days 236 - 275 -
Past-due, 181-365 days 413 413 303 303
Past-due, over one year 1,169 1,169 1,735 1,735
18,761 1,582 16,208 2,038
Changes of impairment losses on receivables asepied below:
01.01.2012 - 01.01.2011 -
PLN '000 31.12.201z 31.12.2011
Impairment loss as at Jan 1 2,038 1,962
Impairment loss recognised in the reporting period 180 129
Release of impairment loss (24) (53)
Use of impairment loss (612) 0
Impairment loss as at Dec 31 1,582 2,038

The Group recognises impairment losses on receasgist due by more than 180 days based on h#toric
payment data. In addition, the Group recognisesiment losses on receivables from all companiestwh
are subject to bankruptcy or liquidation proceesjras well as for receivables in litigation.

The Group does not recognise impairment lossesaale treceivables and debt securities held to niatasi
long as there is a high probability that they voi# repaid. When a receivable or an investment ésnee
unrecoverable, a relevant amount is charged tonsgse

In 2011-2012, the Group did not recognise any genepairment losses for receivables.

Below are presented changes in impairment lossésans advanced:

01.01.2012 - 01.01.2011 -
PLN '000 31.12.201z 31.12.2011
Impairment loss as at Jan 1 280 516
Impairment loss recognised in the reporting period 446 -
Release of impairment loss - (236)
Impairment loss as at Dec 31 726 280

As at December 31st 2012, the gross value of l@h&nced to individuals was PLN 7,241 thousand
(December 31st 2011: PLN 3,499 thousand). The Coynpecognised general impairment losses on loans of
PLN 726 thousand as at December 31st 2012 (Dece8istr2011: PLN 280 thousand). The amount of
impairment losses is determined for the entirefpliot based on estimated recoverability of advaniceahs,
which is established principally on the basis effalelinquency periods.
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Liquidity risk
Below are presented the contractual terms of firghitiabilities:

As at Dec 31 2011
PLN '000 Present Contractual Less than 6-12
value cashflows 6 months months 1-2 years 2-5years

Financial liabilities other than derivative

instruments

Secured borrowings 111,895 125,953 25,423 23,423 77,107 -
Unsecured issued notes 358,985 418,536 46,466 58,947 156,124 156,999
Finance lease liabilities 6,120 6,711 1,337 1,178 1,468 2,728
Trade and other payables 66,947 68,948 57,112 9,090 2,746 -

543,947 620,148 130,338 92,638 237,445 159,727

As at Dec 31 2012
PLN 000 Present Contractual Less than 6-12
value cashflows 6 months months 1-2 years 2-5years

Financial liabilities other than derivative

instruments

Secured borrowings 161,203 179,127 68,323 21,762 39,828 49,214
Unsecured issued notes 427,430 522,866 68,618 81,779 157,454 215,015
Finance lease liabilities 7,750 8,135 1,080 1,065 2,428 3,562
Trade and other payables 38,508 38,809 29,432 9,377 - -

634,891 748,937 167,453 113,983 199,710 267,791

The cash flows under the agreement were deternbasdd on interest rates effective as at Decemlsdr 31
2011 and December 31st 2012, respectively.

The Group does not expect the projected cash fldigsussed in the maturity analysis, to occur $icamtly
earlier or in amounts materially different from siegpresented.

As at December 31st 2012, the unused revolvingitcfadlity limit available to the Group was PLN &g12
thousand (2011: PLN 41,308 thousand). The unus&tli§ available until July 31st 2015.

Currency risk
Exposure to currency risk

Details of the Group's exposure to currency risktahe end of the reporting period are presengéaib
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PLN '000 31.12.2012 31.12.2011
EUR USD RON CZK | EUR USD RON CZK HUF

Trade receivables 301 169 - - 182 5 - - -
Cash 346 1 7,729 1,213 54 3 6,990 1 -
Financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss 9,193 - 189,789 48,364 2,839 - 203,852 26,105 -
Trade and other payables (65) - (10,707) (105) - - (9,399) (105) (7)
Liabilities under loans and borrowings,

and other financial liabilities. (7,816) - - -| (5,763) - - - -
Exposure to currency risk 1,959 170 186,811 49,472 (2,688) 8 201,443 3,472 (7)

The following exchange rates of the key foreignrencies were adopted during the preparation ofethes
financial statements:

PLN Average exchange rates End of the reporting period
(spot rate)
01.01.2012 - 01.01.2011 - 31.12.2012 31.12.2011
31.12.201z 31.12.2011

EUR 1 4.1736 4.1401 4.0882 4.4168
UsSD 1 3.2312 2.9679 3.0996 3.4174
RON 1 0.9377 0.9773 0.9197 1.0226
CzK1 0.1661 0.1682 0.1630 0.1711
HUF 1 1.4496 1.4759 1.3977 1.4196

Sensitivity analysis

As at December 31st 2012, appreciation of the Palisty against EUR, CZK and RON would have reslite
in an increase (decrease) of equity and pre-tafit fmothe amounts shown below. The analysis itam the
assumption that other variables, in particularrggerates, remain unchanged.

PLN '000 Equity excluding
profit or loss for  Profit or loss for
current the current the
period period
Dec 31 2012
EUR (10% appreciation of PLN) - (196)
RON (10% appreciation of PLN) (15,342) (3,339)
CZK (10% appreciation of PLN) 448 (5,395)
Dec 31 2011
EUR (10% appreciation of PLN) - 269
RON (10% appreciation of PLN) - (20,144)
CZK (10% appreciation of PLN) (2,600)
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Interest rate risk

The structure of interest-bearing financial insteums as at the balance-sheet date is presented: belo

PLN '000 Book value
31.12.201z 31.12.2011
Fixed-rate financial instruments
Financial assets 23,694 19,380
Financial liabilities (38,508) (84,159)
(14,814) (64,779)

Variable-rate financial instruments
Financial liabilities (596,383) (477,000)

Sensitivity analysis of fair value of fixed-interesrate financial instruments.

The Group does not hold any fixed-interest-rataritial instruments measured at fair value througfitgand
loss, nor does it execute transactions with ddvigat(IRSs) serving as security for fair value. refiere, a
change of an interest rate would have no effectusrent period's profit or loss.

Sensitivity analysis of cash flows from variable-iterest-rate financial instruments
A change of an interest rate by 100 basis pointsldvoncrease (decrease) equity and pre-tax prgfithie

amounts shown below. The following analysis is dage the assumption that other variables, in paletic
exchange rates, remain unchanged.

PLN '000 Profit or loss for current the  Equity excluding profit or
period loss for current the period
up down by up down by

by 100 bps 100 bps by 100 bps 100 bps

Dec 31 2012

Variable-rate financial instruments (5,964) 5,964 - -
Dec 31 2011

Variable-rate financial instruments (4,770) 4,770 - -
Fair values

Comparison between fair values and carrying amounts

The table below presents a comparison betweendhies of financial assets and liabilities and galu
presented in the statement of financial position:
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PLN '000 31.12.2012 31.12.2011
Book Fair value Book Fair value
Note value value
Financial instruments at fair value through profiloss 873,497 873,497 718,706 718,706
Loans and receivables 23,694 23,694 19,380 19,380
Cash and cash equivalents 42,729 42,729 36,205 36,205
Secured bank borrowings (161,203) (161,203) (111,895) (111,895)
Unsecured issued notes (427,430) (427,430) (358,985) (358,985)
Finance lease liabilities (7,750) (7,750) (6,120) (6,120)
Trade and other payables (38,508) (38,508) (66,947) (66,947)

305,029 305,029 230,344 230,344

For information on the rules applied to the deteation of fair value, see Note 4.
Interest rates used for the assessment of fairevalu

31.12.201z 31.12.2011
Financial assets at fair value through profit eslo 6.25% - 416.54%Y  9.65% - 198.99%
Borrowings 7.22%-8.47% 8.22%-9.02%
Unsecured issued notes 7.43%-9.33% 7.39%-12%
Finance lease liabilities 1.06%-4.0% 1.43%-4.13%

Hierarchy of financial instruments measured at faafue

The table below presents financial instrumentsait ¥alue according to the valuation method applied
Depending on the level of valuation, the followinguts were used in the valuation models.
» Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) on active ntarta@ identical assets or liabilities,
* Level 2: inputs forgiven assets and liabilitieshest than quoted prices from Level 1, observable
directly (e.qg. as prices) or indirectly (e.g. asyisions derivative),
» Level 3: inputs that are not based on observabl&eharices (unobservable inputs).

PLN '000 Level 3

As at Dec 31 2012
Financial assets at fair value through profit @slo 873,497

As at Dec 31 2011
Financial assets at fair value through profit @slo 718,706

27. Operating lease
Operating lease agreements with the Group as a less

Below are detailed minimum lease payments undevaaable operating lease agreements:

PLN '000 31.12.201z 31.12.2011
up to 1 year 3,758 3,695
from 1 to 5 years 2,307 11,341

6,065 15,036
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Material operating lease agreements include:

28.

Agreement for the use of property with an area,8#2 square metres located at ul. Legnicka 56 in
Wroctaw, Poland, executed with Legnicka Businessidd#oSp. z 0.0. on October 13th 2006. The
agreement, executed for a term of ten years, mitable after the initial period of five years. The
annual cost of use is approximately EUR 314 thodisan

Agreement for the use of property with an area, 084 square metres located at ul. Szczas¥kia 2 in
Szczawno-Zdroj, Poland, executed with Ddlgska Agencja Rozwoju Regionalnego S.A. of
Waltbrzych on August 13th 2009. The agreement, drdciora term of ten years, is terminable after
the initial period of five years. The annual costse is approximately PLN 1,013 thousand.
Agreement for the use of property with an areaGd quare metres located in Targoviste, Romania,
executed with ARTA S.C.M. of Targoviste, Romania,August 15th 2008. The annual cost of use is
EUR 27,930 thousand.

Agreement executed with S.C. SEMA PARC S.A. of Barelst on March 13th 2009. The annual cost
of use of the 280 square metre property is apprataiym EUR 26,880.

Agreement for the use of property with an area 606 square metres, located at ul. Wotowska 4,
Wroctaw, executed with DEVCO Sp. z 0.0. on Decenilf#h 2010. The agreement was executed for
a term of three years with no early terminationa@ptThe annual cost of use is approximately EUR
460 thousand

Related-party transactions

Remuneration of the management personnel

Below is presented information on the remuneratiayable to the members of the Parent's key manageme

personnel:
PLN '000 01.01.2012 - 01.01.2011 -
31.12.2012 31.12.2011
Base pay/ managerial contract 3,180 2,478
Provisions for employee bonuses for current year 1,967 2,951
Bonuses paid for current year - 251
Other - medical benefits and other 69 15
Share based consideration 2,346 890
7,562 6,585

Other transactions with the management personnel

As at December 31st 2012, the management persohtied Parent and their next of kin held 18% oftibtel
voting rights at the Parent (December 31st 201%)18

Certain members of the management personnel amchiéhe of kin hold positions in other entities {side of
the Group), enabling them to control or signifidgribfluence the financial and operating policidssoch
entities.

Some of such entities executed business transactigh the Group in the reporting period. The teransl
conditions of such transactions did not differ freerms and conditions of similar transactions earout or
which may be carried out on an arm's length baglswon-related parties. The total value of themwises for
2012 was 488 thousand.

Other related-party transactions

In 2011-2012, the Group did not execute any trarsawith Polish Enterprise Fund IV L.P.
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29. Composition of the Group

Subsidiaries
Share capital held (%) Gross value of shares
PLN '000 Country 31.12.201z 31.12.2011 31.12.201z 31.12.2011
Secapital S.a.r.l Luxembourg 100% 100% 605,280 469,567
ERIF Business Solutions Sp. z o.0. Poland 100% 100% 100 100
Secapital Polska Sp. z o0.0. Poland 100% 100% 50 50
Rejestr Dhinikéw ERIF Biuro
Informacji Gospodarczej S.A. Poland 100% 100% 3,104 1,564
Novum Finance Sp. z 0.0. Poland 100% 100% 7,250 50
KRUK International S.r.l. Romania 100% 100% 19,108 11,421
Kancelaria Prawna RAVEN Krupa &
Stanko Spdtka komandytowa Poland 98% 98% 300 300
KRUK Towarzystwo Funduszy
Inwestycyjnych S.A. Poland 100% 100% 1,550 250
KRUK International S.r.o. Czech Republic 100% 100% 33 33
Prokura NS FIZ* Poland 100% 100% - -
Prokulus NS FIZ* Poland 100% 100% - -
KRUK International Z.r.t. Hungary 100% - 1,337 -
638,112 483,335

* subsidiaries of Secapital Sarl

All the subsidiaries listed above were consolidatedhe consolidated financial statements prepa®adt
December 31st 2012 and for the period from Janlstr012 to December 31st 2012, though:

 KRUK International Zrt. (until April 24th 2012 opeting under the name of SH Money) has been
consolidated since April 1st 2012.

On October 7th 2011, KRUK S.A. executed an agreeén@mpurchase a Hungarian company SH Money
Ingatlanfinanszirozési és Pénzugyi Zartigir Miikodé Részvénytarsasag (“SH Money”). On March 9th 2012,
the Hungarian financial regulator (PSZAF) approttegl purchase of SH Money by KRUK S.A. The purchase
price was PLN 1,337 thousand. The acquired assatprise cash and a licence for debt collectiorviiets.

On June 6th 2012, the Management Board of KRUK &golved to suspend its activities designed tpagme
for entering the Hungarian market for indefinitmiéi. The Management Board believes that currentty th
estimated size of the Hungarian debt purchase mald@s not guarantee satisfactory development ef th
KRUK Group's business in that country, which, hoarexdoes not preclude the possibility of the Comgpan
entering that market in the future.

On February 6th 2012, Polski Rynek Dlugéw Sp. z ohanged its name to NOVUM Finance Sp. z 0.0. The
change was entered in the National Court Registéredruary 15th 2012.

On February 21st 2013, KRUIKternational S.r.Ichanged its name to KRUK ROMANIA S.r.l.

On February 22nd 2013, KRUHKternational S.r.ochanged its name to KRUKeska a Slovenskéa republika
S.r.o.
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30. Events subsequent to the balance-sheet date

On January 28th 2013, the Company reduced the slapital and capital reserve of Secapital S.ay.PLN
7,000 thousand.

On February 5th 2013, the Company issued Seriet2 for PLN 30,000 thousand.
On February 12th 2013, the Company issued Seriemted for PLN 30,000 thousand.

On February 18th 2013, the Company and NSFIZ PROKURsubsidiary, executed a trilateral agreement
with Bank Zachodni WBK S.A. on a revolving creditflity of up to PLN 70m.

Piotr Krupa Rafat Janiak Agnieszka Katto

President of the Management Board Member of thedgament Board Member of the Management Board
Urszula Okarma Iwona Stomska Michat efss

Member of the Management Board Member of the Memagt Board Member of the Management Board

Katarzyna Raczkiewicz
Person responsible for maintaining
the accounting records

Wroctaw, March 13th 2013
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